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APPENDIX A 

 

United States Court of Appeals 

for the Fifth Circuit 
 

No. 24-10017 

 

LATRISHA WINDER, Individually, as next friend of 

J.W., a minor and as personal representative of THE 

ESTATE OF STEPHEN WAYNE WINDER, Deceased; LILY 

WINDER; STEPHEN TYLER WINDER; KOLENE WINDER, 

as next friend of E.W., a minor, 

Plaintiffs—Appellants, 

versus 

JOSHUA M. GALLARDO; ROBERT TRAVIS BABCOCK; 

YOUNG COUNTY, TEXAS, 

Defendants—Appellees. 

 

 

Appeal from the United States District Court 

for the Northern District of Texas 

USDC No. 7:23-CV-59 

 

Before JONES, WILLETT, and ENGELHARDT, Circuit 

Judges. 

PER CURIAM:

Upset that he saw Facebook messages between 

his wife and her ex-husband, Steve Winder became 
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suicidal. Later that night, his wife Latrisha (who was 

out of state for National Guard training) called her 

mother and told her that Steve had sent her pictures 

in which he was holding a gun to his head. 

Latrisha called the Young County Sheriff’s 

department for a welfare check. Deputy Joshua 

Gallardo arrived and, after hearing Steve shout from 

within, opened the front door. Steve’s mother-in-law 

indicated he was armed and walking to the nearby 

bedroom door. Deputy Gallardo yelled at Steve to put 

the gun down before fatally shooting him. Appellants 

sued for (1) warrantless entry, (2) excessive force, (3) 

supervisory liability, (4) Monell liability, and (5) ADA 

violations. The District Court dismissed the case at 

the 12(b)(6) stage. It did so correctly. 

First, Steve’s suicidality, combined with his 

possession of the means to follow through (the gun), 

created exigent circumstances excusing the need for a 

warrant. Second, an objectively reasonable officer in 

Deputy Gallardo’s shoes wouldn’t need for Steve to 

point the gun at him before using deadly force under 

the facts as pled and from what can be seen in Deputy 

Gallardo’s body cam footage, defeating the excessive 

force claim. Third, there is no underlying 

constitutional violation to support a claim for 

supervisory or Monell liability. Fourth, Title II of the 

ADA (which Appellants sued under) doesn’t support 

claims where police officers faced exigent 

circumstances, such as those created by which Steve’s 

suicidality. We AFFIRM. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Factual 

Steve was enjoying an afternoon of swimming and 

drinks with family and friends when he accidentally 
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got in his pool with his cell phone. So he went inside 

his house and charged his wife Latrisha’s old cell 

phone. She was in Fort Lee, Virginia training for the 

National Guard at the time. On her phone, he found 

private Facebook messages between Latrisha and her 

ex-husband. Latrisha’s ex-husband wanted to get 

back together, but she declined. 

Presumably upset, Steve walked next door to 

show the messages to his mother-in-law, Lou Anne 

Phillips, around 4:00 p.m. Lou Anne sympathized 

with Steve, agreeing that Latrisha should have told 

him about the messages while emphasizing that 

Latrisha declined her ex-husband’s advances. Steve 

went home, but later that evening Lou Anne began 

receiving texts from Latrisha expressing concern that 

she couldn’t reach Steve and was worried about him 

because of his history of excessive drinking and 

mental illness, namely depression. Lou Anne went 

over to check on Steve, let him use her phone to call 

Latrisha, and took Steve’s daughter J.W. back to her 

house at Steve’s request. 

Around 7:00 p.m. Latrisha called Lou Anne again, 

telling her that Steve sent pictures of himself holding 

a handgun under his chin and to his head, stating that 

he “could not bear it anymore.” Lou Anne went to 

check on Steve again. Around the same time, Latrisha 

called the Young County Sheriff’s Department to 

request a welfare check for Steve, informing officers 

that Steve had sent pictures holding a gun to his head. 

Deputies Gallardo and Dwyer were dispatched to 

the Winders’ home, driving in separate vehicles. 

Deputy Gallardo got there first, where Steve’s niece 

escorted him to the Winders’ front door. Lou Anne 

heard that someone was at the door and tried to 
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retrieve the gun from Steve, but Steve got upset, 

yelling “I don’t give a [expletive]. This is my home” 

and took the gun. Steve was heavily intoxicated at the 

time, with a BAC of .173. 

After hearing Steve shout, Deputy Gallardo 

opened the door, said “Hello, Sheriff’s Office,” and 

remained on the porch.1 He received no immediate 

response, so he called out “Steve” in a louder voice. 

Steve responded “What?” from the bedroom, and Lou 

Anne emerged saying “We’re right here. Can I help 

you?” But Lou Anne then saw Steve holding his gun 

and approaching the bedroom door. She told Steve to 

“put it up,” and informed Deputy Gallardo that “he’s 

got a gun.” Deputy Gallardo drew his service weapon, 

radioed “he’s got a gun, he’s got a gun,” and told Steve 

“put it down man, put it down.” Deputy Gallardo then 

shot Steve once in the chest. Body cam footage 

indicates that the above took place over 

approximately 28 seconds. 

Deputy Dwyer arrived about forty seconds after. 

The Deputies entered the bedroom and saw Steve on 

the floor and his handgun on the bed, which Deputy 

Gallardo secured and removed to one of their vehicles. 

The Deputies rendered aid until emergency medical 

services arrived a few minutes later, but Steve 

ultimately died. 

 
1 Appellants dispute this and claim that Deputy Gallardo 

entered the home, but body camera footage demonstrates that he 

remained outside the home until after the shooting occurred. 

But, as explained below, whether Deputy Gallardo entered the 

home or not is non-dispositive because Steve’s suicidality and 

possession of the means to follow through (the gun) created exi-

gent circumstances justifying warrantless entry. Infra III(B). 
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B. Procedural 

Appellants asserted claims for warrantless entry, 

excessive force, supervisory liability, Monell liability, 

and Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) 

violations against Deputy Gallardo, Sheriff Robert 

Travis Babcock, and Young County, Texas. 

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss, which the 

District Court granted. Appellants timely appealed. 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A district court’s Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) 

dismissal on the pleadings receives de novo review. 

Morgan v. Swanson, 659 F.3d 359, 370 (5th Cir. 2011) 

(en banc). In conducting that review, we accept “all 

well-pleaded facts as true and draw[s] all reasonable 

inferences in favor of the nonmoving party.” Id. We do 

not, however, “presume true a number of categories of 

statements, including legal conclusions; mere labels; 

threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of 

action; conclusory statements; and naked assertions 

devoid of further factual enhancement.” Id. (cleaned 

up) (quoting Ashcroft v. Iqbal., 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009)). But while “the court accepts ‘all well-pleaded 

facts as true and draw[s] all reasonable inferences in 

favor of the nonmoving party,’” “the video depictions 

of events, viewed in the light most favorable to the 

plaintiff, should be adopted over the factual 

allegations in the complaint if the video ‘blatantly 

contradict[s]’ those allegations.” Harmon v. City of 

Arlington, Tex., 16 F.4th 1159, 1162–63 (5th Cir. 

2021) (quoting Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 

(2007)) (cleaned up). 

The parties disputed in a motion to strike whether 

the body cam video was sufficiently referenced to the 

point of being incorporated in the complaint; 
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regardless, the District Court noted that it relied 

solely on the complaint in dismissing the case and 

denied that motion as moot. Appellants nevertheless 

referenced the video in their complaint and brief, 

included several screenshots from the video in their 

complaint, and caselaw supports our consideration of 

the video. See, e.g., Harmon, 16 F.4th at 1162–63 

(relying on appended video evidence to affirm district 

court’s dismissal of all claims based on qualified 

immunity); Hodge v. Engleman, 90 F.4th 840, 843 (5th 

Cir. 2024); see also, e.g., Salinas v. Loud, No. 22-

11248, 2024 WL 140443, at *1 (5th Cir. Jan. 12, 2024) 

(unpublished). 

Qualified immunity protects government officials 

“from liability for civil damages insofar as their 

conduct does not violate clearly established statutory 

or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person 

would have known.” Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 

800, 818 (1982). To determine whether a government 

official is entitled to qualified immunity, we must 

decide (1) whether a plaintiff has alleged facts 

sufficient to establish a constitutional violation, and 

(2) whether the right at issue was clearly established 

at the time of the defendant’s alleged misconduct. 

Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231–32 (2009). 

And we have discretion to determine the order in 

which we consider those questions. Id. at 236. 

III. DISCUSSION 

A. We decline Appellants’ invitation to upend 

qualified immunity. 

Before delving into their case’s substance, 

Appellants first request that we upend qualified 

immunity outright. This request is, as Appellants 

concede, outside our abilities. (“While this Court 
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cannot abrogate Supreme-Court authority on QI, 

Plaintiffs raise it now for potential argument in the 

Supreme Court.”). “As a panel of this court, however, 

we are bound by the precedential decisions of both our 

court and the Supreme Court.” Garcia v. Blevins, 957 

F.3d 596, 602 (citing Vaughan v. Anderson Reg. Med. 

Ctr., 849 F.3d 588, 591 (5th Cir. 2017)) (rejecting 

argument to reconsider Fifth Circuit’s approach to 

qualified immunity). We decline Appellants’ 

invitation. 

B. Appellants’ warrantless entry claim. 

Appellants argue that Deputy Gallardo’s 

warrantless entry was an unjustified violation of 

Steve’s constitutional rights. Appellees assert 

qualified immunity, responding that Deputy Gallardo 

never entered the home until after the shooting, and 

even if he did, Steve’s suicidality created an exigent 

circumstance justifying warrantless entry. Even 

taking Appellants’ version of the facts as true in the 

face of body camera footage demonstrating otherwise, 

Appellants do not allege facts overcoming an exigent 

circumstance under this Circuit’s decision in Rice v. 

Reliastar Life Ins., which held that suicidality “may 

create an exigency . . . so compelling that a 

warrantless entry is objectively reasonable under the 

Fourth Amendment.” 770 F.3d 1122, 1131 (5th Cir. 

2014). 

“[S]earches and seizures inside a home without a 

warrant are presumptively unreasonable.” Brigham 

City v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398 (2006) (cleaned up). But 

the exigent circumstances exception exists, applying 

when ‘“the exigencies of the situation’ make the needs 

of law enforcement so compelling that [a] warrantless 

search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth 
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Amendment.” Id. (citation omitted). “The Government 

bears the burden of demonstrating exigent 

circumstances.” United States v. Troop, 514 F.3d 405, 

409 (5th Cir. 2008). 

Suicidality presents a tragically common example 

of exigent circumstances. See, e.g., Rice, 770 F.3d at 

1131 (granting qualified immunity) (“This is not the 

first time we have encountered a tragic factual 

scenario like the one present here: a police officer, in 

an attempt to aid a potentially suicidal individual, 

entered without a warrant and killed the person the 

officer was trying to help.”) (collecting cases). Rice 

squarely confronted the issue of “whether the exigent 

circumstances exception to the warrant requirement 

may allow for a warrantless entry based on the threat 

an individual poses to himself.” Id. And Rice “h[e]ld 

that the threat an individual poses to himself may 

create an exigency that makes the needs of law 

enforcement so compelling that a warrantless entry is 

objectively reasonable under the Fourth 

Amendment.” Id. “The need to protect or preserve life 

or avoid serious injury is justification for what would 

be otherwise illegal absent an exigency or emergency.” 

Id. (quoting Brigham City, 547 U.S. at 403). “This 

need to protect or preserve life is not limited to 

instances where violence is directed to another 

person; the need to protect and preserve life can be 

just as strong when the violence is directed at one’s 

self.” Id. (emphasis added) (citing Fitzgerald v. 

Santoro, 707 F.3d 725, 731 (7th Cir. 2013)); see also, 

e.g., Clark, 850 F. App’x at 211 (“The exigency of a 

credible risk that a person is about to end their life 

justifies[] warrantless entr[y.]”). 
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Body camera footage shows that Deputy Gallardo 

did not enter until after the shooting. But, even if he 

did, the 911 call made clear that Steve was suicidal 

and potentially in possession of a gun, just like the 

decedent in Rice. Rice, 770 F.3d at 1132. Thus, Deputy 

Gallardo’s warrantless entry was objectively 

reasonable because it was prompted by credible 

information that Steve both “was a suicide risk and 

had the means to act on it.” Clark v. Thompson, 850 

F. App’x 203, 211 (5th Cir. 2021) (emphasis added); 

Rice, 770 F.3d at 1132. Deputy Gallardo’s entry was 

clearly in line with Rice, exigent circumstances 

existed, and no constitutional violation occurred. 

C. Appellants’ excessive force claim. 

Appellants assert that Deputy Gallardo used 

excessive force when he shot Steve, and Appellees 

counter that Deputy Gallardo’s use of force is 

protected under qualified immunity. Excessive force 

claims must establish “(1) injury, (2) which resulted 

directly and only from a use of force that was clearly 

excessive, and (3) the excessiveness of which was 

clearly unreasonable.” Deville v. Marcantel, 567 F.3d 

156, 167 (5th Cir. 2009) (cleaned up). An injury 

occurred—Deputy Gallardo shot and killed Steve— so 

the analysis hinges on prongs (2) and (3). Deputy 

Gallardo’s use of force, viewed “from the perspective 

of a reasonable officer on the scene,” Graham v. 

Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 388 (1989), was neither 

excessive nor unreasonable because “[a] police officer 

does not have to permit a suspect to aim his weapon 

before answering the threat.” Jones v. Shivers, 697 F. 

App’x 334, 334 (citing Salazar-Limon v. City of 

Houston, 826 F.3d at 272, 279 n.6 (5th Cir. 2016). 
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“Reasonableness” is an objective inquiry: one asks 

“whether the officers’ actions are ‘objectively 

reasonable’ in light of the facts and circumstances 

confronting them, without regard to their underlying 

intent or motivation.” Graham, 490 U.S. at 397 

(citations omitted). “The ‘reasonableness’ of a 

particular use of force must be judged from the 

perspective of a reasonable officer on the scene, rather 

than with the 20/20 vision of hindsight.” Id. at 396. 

And one must account for “the fact that police officers 

are often forced to make split-second judgments—in 

circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly 

evolving—about the amount of force that is necessary 

in a particular situation.” Id. at 396–97. To access 

reasonableness, we consider three factors that the 

Supreme Court outlined in Graham v. Connor: (1) “the 

severity of the crime at issue,” (2) “whether the 

suspect poses an immediate threat to the safety of the 

officers or others,” (3) “and whether he is actively 

resisting arrest or attempting to evade arrest by 

flight.” Deville, 567 F.3d at 167 (citing Graham v. 

Connor, 490 U.S. at 396). 

When it comes to deadly force, “[a]n officer’s use of 

deadly force is not excessive, and thus no 

constitutional violation occurs, when the officer 

reasonably believes that the suspect poses a threat of 

serious harm to the officer or to others.” Manis v. 

Lawson, 585 F.3d 839, 843 (5th Cir. 2009). And “if the 

officer believes the suspect has a gun, the calculation 

changes—even if there was never, in fact, a gun.” Allen 

v. Hays, 65 F.4th 736, 744 (5th Cir. 2023) (emphasis 

added). Uses of force may be reasonable when the 

officer could reasonably believe the suspect was 

reaching for or had a gun. See, e.g., Ontiveros v. City 

of Rosenberg, 564 F.3d 379, 385 (5th Cir. 2009) (officer 
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did not use excessive force even when subsequent 

search of bedroom revealed no weapons)(“[T]his court 

has upheld the use of deadly force where a suspect 

moved out of the officer’s line of sight and could have 

reasonably been interpreted as reaching for a 

weapon.”); Reese v. Anderson, 926 F.2d 494, 501 (5th 

Cir. 1991) (police did not use excessive force when a 

decedent repeatedly refused to keep hands raised and 

appeared to be reaching for an object, despite the “fact 

that [the decedent] was actually unarmed.”) 

(emphasis added). 

Much confusion exists around whether Steve was, 

in fact, holding a gun the moment he was shot. The 

body cam footage is inconclusive: Deputy Gallardo 

was standing outside the front door peering into the 

home after being informed by Lou Anne that Steve 

“ha[d] a gun,” so the doorframe obscures where Steve 

was standing and footage neither confirms nor denies 

that Steve was holding a gun. At the same time, the 

complaint alleges that Steve “had gotten up from his 

chair with his gun” and walked “to the bedroom 

doorway” while yelling. Lou Anne herself even 

believed Steve had a gun, telling him to “put it up” and 

informing Deputy Gallardo “he’s got a gun.” And 

Deputy Gallardo radioed this information, then told 

Steve “put it down man, put it down” directly before 

firing, indicating that he saw (or at least believed that 

he saw) Steve holding a gun before firing. But whether 

Steve was in fact aiming a gun at Deputy Gallardo 

does not matter—binding caselaw demonstrates that 

what matters is whether Deputy Gallardo could 

reasonably believe that Steve was reaching for or had 

a gun. See, e.g., City of Rosenberg, 564 F.3d at 385. 
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Taking the facts alleged as true, a reasonable 

officer in Deputy Gallardo’s position would have 

reasonably believed that Steve had or was reaching 

for a gun—meaning Steve “pose[d] a threat of serious 

harm to [him] or to others.” Manis, 585 F.3d at 843. 

The body cam footage and complaint as pled show as 

much, including (1) the 911 call informing Deputy 

Gallardo that Steve had a gun and was in an unstable 

(indeed suicidal) mental state, (2) Steve’s walking 

toward the door while yelling, (3) Lou Anne telling 

Steve to “put [the gun] up,” (4) Lou Anne informing 

Deputy Gallardo that “he’s got a gun,” and (5) Deputy 

Gallardo commanding Steve twice to “put [the gun] 

down.” Nor would a reasonable officer in Deputy 

Gallardo’s position “have to permit [Steve] to aim his 

weapon before answering the threat.” Jones, 697 F. 

App’x at 334; see also Salazar-Limon, 826 F.3d at 279 

n.6 (“[W]e have never required officers to wait until a 

defendant turns towards them, with weapon in hand, 

before applying deadly force to ensure their safety.”) 

(collecting cases). Deputy Gallardo’s use of deadly 

force was neither excessive nor unreasonable under 

our binding caselaw, meaning no constitutional 

violation occurred. 

D. Appellants’ supervisory liability claim. 

Appellants also allege a failure-to-supervise claim 

against Sheriff Babcock, relying on the single incident 

exception to do so. Appellants needed to show “(1) the 

[sheriff] failed to supervise or train the officer; (2) a 

causal connection existed between the failure to 

supervise or train and the violation of the plaintiff’s 

rights; and (3) the failure to supervise or train 

amounted to deliberate indifference to the plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights.” Roberts v. City of Shreveport, 



13a 

 

 

397 F.3d 287, 292 (5th Cir. 2005). Even assuming 

arguendo that there was a failure to supervise, 

Appellants cannot succeed at the second step because 

no violation of rights occurred. Supra III(B)–(C). 

E. Appellants’ Monell claim. 

Appellants also levy a Monell claim against Young 

County. “[M]unicipal liability under section 1983 

requires proof of three elements: a policymaker; an 

official policy; and a violation of constitutional rights 

whose ‘moving force’ is the policy or custom.” 

Piotrowski v. City of Hous., 237 F.3d 567, 578 (5th Cir. 

2001) (citing Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 

658, 694 (1978)). “‘[I]t is well established that there 

must be an underlying constitutional violation for 

there to be a claim under Monell.’” Landry v. Laborde-

Lahoz, 852 Fed. App’x 123, 127 (5th Cir. 2021) 

(quoting Taite v. City of Fort Worth Texas, 681 F. 

App’x 307, 309 (5th Cir. 2017)). But no constitutional 

violation took place here. Supra III(B)–(C). So, the 

Monell claim lacks an underlying constitutional claim 

and therefore fails. 

F. Appellants’ ADA claims. 

Finally, Appellants argue that Young County 

violated the ADA. An ADA plaintiff must show: “(1) 

that he has a qualifying disability; (2) that he is being 

denied the benefits of services, programs, or activities 

for which the public entity is responsible, or is 

otherwise discriminated against by the public entity; 

and (3) that such discrimination is by reason of his 

disability.” Hale v. King, 642 F.3d 492, 499 (5th Cir. 

2011). Key here is Hainze v. Richards, which 

foreclosed ADA claims where police officers face 

exigent circumstances. See 207 F.3d 795, 801 (5th Cir. 

2000) (qualified immunity case where an officer shot 
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a suicidal, mentally ill man threatening and 

advancing toward him with a knife) (Title II of the 

ADA “does not apply to an officer’s on-the-street 

responses to reported disturbances, whether or not 

those calls involve subjects with mental disabilities”); 

see also Windham v. Harris Cnty., Tex., 875 F.3d 229, 

235 (5th Cir. 2017) (ADA allows “individuals to sue 

local governments for disability discrimination 

committed by police in non-exigent circumstances.” 

(emphasis added)). 

As discussed above, there were indeed exigent 

circumstances—Steve “was a suicide risk and had the 

means to act on it.” Clark, 850 F. App’x at 211 

(emphasis added); see supra III(B). These exigent 

circumstances (circumstances resembling those in 

Hainze itself) foreclose ADA relief. See 207 F.3d at 

801. Moreover, Appellants cannot show that Steve 

was discriminated against “by reason of his disability” 

(here, depression). Appellants point to no facts 

showing that Deputy Gallardo shot Steve because 

Steve was depressed. Instead, they assert that Young 

County lacked policies to “protect [Steve’s] welfare” or 

“respond[] to threatened suicide calls with well-

established crisis intervention techniques, including 

responding with a mental-health professional.” But 

this doesn’t demonstrate that Deputy Gallardo shot 

Steve “by reason of” his depression. Deputy Gallardo 

shot Steve “by reason of” circumstances that would 

lead an objectively reasonable officer to reasonably 

believe that Steve was reaching for or had a gun. 

Supra III(C). 

IV. CONCLUSION 

We AFFIRM the District Court in full for the 

reasons stated. 
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APPENDIX B 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

WICHITA FALLS DIVISION 

 

LATRISH WINDER, 

et al., 

 

    Plaintiffs, 

v. 

JOSHUA M. 

GALLARDO, et al., 

 

    Defendants. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

 

 

 

 

Civil Action No. 

7:23-CV-00059-O 

 

OPINION & ORDER 

Before the Court are Defendants’ Motion to Dis-

miss (ECF No. 8), filed August 22, 2023; Plaintiffs’ 

Response (ECF No. 14), filed September 22, 2023; De-

fendants’ Reply (ECF No. 20), filed October 13, 2023; 

Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Brief (ECF No. 26), filed No-

vember 27, 2023; and Defendants’ Supplemental 

Response (ECF No. 27); filed December 11, 2023. Also 

before the Court are Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike (ECF 

No. 17) filed September 25, 2023; Defendants’ Re-

sponse (ECF No. 21), filed October 16, 2023; and 

Plaintiffs’ Reply (ECF No. 22), filed October 24, 2023. 

As an initial matter, the Court addresses Plain-

tiffs’ Motion to Strike Deputy Sherriff Joshua M. 

Gallardo’s (“Deputy Gallardo”) bodycam video, which 

the Defendants submitted with their Motion to Dis-

miss. Having relied only upon facts as alleged in 
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Plaintiffs’ Complaint to rule on Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss, Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike (ECF No. 17) is 

hereby DENIED for mootness. 

I. BACKGROUND1 

On a Sunday afternoon, Steve Winder (“Winder”) 

and his family members were swimming in Winder’s 

pool. Winder, who had been drinking, accidentally got 

in the pool with his cell phone. Seeking to find a phone 

that worked, Winder went inside his home, found, and 

charged an old phone that belonged to his wife La-

trisha (“Latrisha”), who at the time was in the United 

States National Guard and in Fort Lee, Virginia for 

training. Winder discovered Facebook messages on 

Latrisha’s phone between Latrisha and her ex-hus-

band. In the messages, Latrisha’s ex-husband 

expressed a desire to reconcile with Latrisha. Latrisha 

declined her ex-husband’s invitation, but never told 

Winder about these messages. Winder, presumably 

upset about the messages, took Latrisha’s phone next 

door to his mother-in-law, Lou Anne Phillip’s (“Mrs. 

Phillips”) house. Mrs. Phillips pointed out that the 

messages showed that Latrisha did not want to get 

back together with her ex-husband. Winder agreed 

and went back to his house. Later that evening, Mrs. 

Phillips received text messages from Latrisha—who 

was in Virginia at the time—expressing concern for 

Winder because she could not reach him, and because 

he had a history of excessive drinking and mental ill-

ness. Mrs. Phillips then went over to Winder’s house 

to check on him. Around 7:00 PM that night, Mrs. 

Phillips received another call from Latrisha, who told 

Mrs. Phillips that Winder had sent her photos of a 

 
1 Unless otherwise indicated, these facts are taken from 

those alleged in the Complaint (ECF No. 1). 
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handgun under his chin and to his head, stating that 

“he could not bear it anymore.” At Latrisha’s request, 

Mrs. Phillips went over to Winder’s house to check on 

him again. Mrs. Phillips reported that Winder was not 

suicidal and that the situation was under control. 

Around the same time, Latrisha also called the 

Young County Sherriff’s Department and asked for a 

welfare check on her husband. The dispatcher noted 

that Winder had a gun and had sent Latrisha a photo 

of himself holding the gun while saying “he could not 

bear it anymore.” 

Young County Sheriff Deputies Gallardo and Si-

mon Dwyer (“Deputy Dwyer”) were dispatched to the 

Winder home. Deputies Gallardo and Dwyer drove 

separate vehicles. Deputy Gallardo arrived at the 

Winder home first, where he encountered Winder’s 

niece who escorted him to the front door. At this time, 

Mrs. Phillips was still accompanying Winder in his 

bedroom. After realizing that Deputy Gallardo was 

outside the door, Mrs. Phillips tried to retrieve the 

gun from Winder. But this upset Winder. He re-

sponded “I don’t give a [expletive]. This is my home” 

and proceeded to grab his gun and sit in his chair 

catty-corner from the bedroom door.  

Deputy Gallardo then opened the front door, an-

nouncing himself with “Hello Sherriff’s Office,” and 

yelling for “Steve.” Mrs. Phillips simultaneously 

opened the bedroom door, calmly answered “we’re 

right here. Can I help you?” and indicated that Winder 

and everyone else was alright. Shortly thereafter, 

Mrs. Phillips saw Winder get up from his chair and 

walk toward the doorway with the gun. Mrs. Phillips 

told Winder to “put it up,” and then told Deputy Gal-

lardo “He’s got a gun.” After this, Mrs. Phillips did not 
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look at Winder again until after he was shot. Mrs. 

Phillips never saw Winder point his gun at Deputy 

Gallardo, but she initially believed Winder was hold-

ing a gun in the bedroom doorway. Winder was not 

visible on Deputy Gallardo’s bodycam video. After 

Mrs. Phillips said, “He’s got a gun,” Deputy Gallardo 

said on his radio, “He’s got a gun. He’s got a gun” and 

“Put it down, man. Put it down.” Deputy Gallardo 

then fired one shot from his handgun that hit Winder 

in the chest as he was standing next to the bedroom 

doorway. 

Deputy Dwyer arrived on the front porch about 

forty seconds after Deputy Gallardo shot Winder. 

Upon entering Winder’s bedroom, examining the 

scene, and noticing Winder on the floor at the foot of 

the bed, Deputy Dwyer pointed at a gun on the far 

back corner of the bed opposite to where Winder had 

been standing when he was shot and asked Deputy 

Gallardo if that was “the gun.” Deputy Gallardo re-

sponded affirmatively. Based on the location of 

Winder’s gun after the shooting and the fact that Mrs. 

Phillips did not see Winder point a gun a Deputy Gal-

lardo, Plaintiffs contend that Winder was unarmed at 

the time Deputy Gallardo shot him. 

Deputy Dwyer apologized to Mrs. Phillips and La-

trisha, who was on Facetime, saying “I apologize I 

couldn’t have got here any quicker than I did.”  

On June 6, 2023, Latrisha and Winder’s four chil-

dren (“Plaintiffs”) filed this Section 1983 action 

against Deputy Gallardo, the Sheriff of Young County, 

Texas, Robert Travis Babcock (“Sheriff Babcock”), and 

Young County, Texas (collectively, “Defendants”), al-

leging causes of action for (A) warrantless entry, (B) 

excessive force, (C) supervisory liability, (D) Monell 
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Liability, and (E) Americans with Disabilities Act 

(“ADA”) violations. Defendants filed a Motion to Dis-

miss, which is now ripe for review.2 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

A. Motion to Dismiss 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8 requires that a 

complaint contain “a short and plain statement of the 

claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” 

FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a)(2). The Rule “does not require ‘de-

tailed factual allegations,’ but it demands more than 

an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me 

accusation.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 

544, 555 (2007)). If a plaintiff fails to satisfy this 

standard, the defendant may file a motion to dismiss 

under Rule 12(b)(6) for “failure to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted.” FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6). 

To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 

12(b)(6), a plaintiff must plead “enough facts to state 

a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Twombly, 

550 U.S. at 570. “A claim has facial plausibility when 

the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the de-

fendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 678. “The plausibility standard is not akin 

to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more 

than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted un-

lawfully.” Id. (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556). A 

court may not accept legal conclusions as true, but 

when well-pleaded factual allegations are present, a 

court assumes their veracity and then determines 

 
2 Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss, ECF No. 8; Pls.’ Resp., ECF No. 14; 

Defs.’ Reply, ECF No. 20. 
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whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to 

relief. Id. at 678–79. 

B. Qualified Immunity 

The doctrine of qualified immunity protects gov-

ernment officials sued under Section 1983 “from 

liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does 

not violate clearly established statutory or constitu-

tional rights of which a reasonable person would have 

known.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 (2009) 

(citing Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982)). 

“Qualified immunity balances two important inter-

ests—the need to hold public officials accountable 

when they exercise power irresponsibly and the need 

to shield officials from harassment, distraction, and li-

ability when they perform their duties reasonably.” 

Id. This doctrine protects “all but the plainly incompe-

tent or those who knowingly violate the law.” Malley 

v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986). 

Deciding whether an official is entitled to quali-

fied immunity requires a court to apply the two-

pronged analysis established in Saucier v. Katz. 533 

U.S. 194 (2001). Courts have discretion to decide 

which of the two prongs should be addressed first in 

light of the circumstances of each particular case. 

Pearson, 555 U.S. at 236, 242 (“[T]he judges of the dis-

trict courts and the courts of appeals are in the best 

position to determine the order of decision making 

that will best facilitate the fair and efficient disposi-

tion of each case.”). 

The first prong of the Saucier analysis asks 

whether the facts alleged or shown are sufficient to 

make out a violation of a constitutional or federal stat-

utory right. Saucier, 533 U.S. at 201. If the plaintiff’s 

allegations, viewed favorably, do not set out a 
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legitimate claim for relief for violation of a right, no 

further inquiry is necessary. Id. On the other hand, if 

the plaintiff sufficiently pleads or establishes the vio-

lation of a constitutional or federal statutory right, a 

court must decide whether that right was clearly es-

tablished at the time of the government official’s 

alleged misconduct. Id. This requires a determination 

of whether a defendant’s actions were objectively rea-

sonable “in light of clearly established law at the time 

of the conduct in question.” Hampton Co. Nat’l Sur., 

L.L.C. v. Tunica County, 543 F.3d 221, 225 (5th Cir. 

2008) (cleaned up). If public officials or officers of “rea-

sonable competence could disagree [on whether the 

conduct is legal], immunity should be recognized.” 

Malley, 475 U.S. at 341; see also Gibson v. Rich, 44 

F.3d 274, 277 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing Babb v. Dorman, 

33 F.3d 472, 477 (5th Cir. 1994)). Conversely, an of-

ficer’s conduct is not protected by qualified immunity 

if, considering clearly established pre-existing law, it 

was apparent that the officer’s conduct, when under-

taken, would be a violation of the right at issue. 

Siegert v. Gilley, 500 U.S. 226, 231 (1991); Jones v. 

City of Jackson, 203 F.3d 875, 879 (5th Cir. 2000). 

“The critical consideration is fair warning.” Taylor v. 

LeBlanc, 68 F.4th 223, 228 (5th Cir. 2023). 

Therefore, “[t]o surmount this [qualified immun-

ity] barrier at the motion to dismiss stage, the 

plaintiffs must plead specific facts that both allow the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the de-

fendant is liable for the harm they have alleged and 

that defeat a qualified immunity defense with equal 

specificity.” Torns v. City of Jackson, 622 Fed. App’x 

414, 416 (5th Cir. 2015) (cleaned up). 
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III. ANALYSIS 

A. Warrantless Entry 

Plaintiffs argue that Deputy Gallardo’s warrant-

less entry in the Winder home was not justified, 

violating Winder’s constitutional rights.3 In response, 

Defendants assert qualified immunity on grounds 

that Deputy Gallardo did not enter the residence, and 

even if he did enter the Winder home, he was invited 

to enter, which does not violate Winder’s constitu-

tional rights. At this stage, the Court takes Plaintiffs 

allegations that Deputy Gallardo entered the Winder 

home as true.4 The Court will begin by addressing the 

first prong required to overcome qualified immunity, 

which considers whether the facts alleged, taken in 

the light most favorable to the plaintiff, show a viola-

tion of a constitutional right. Saucier, 533 U.S. at 200. 

“[S]earches and seizures inside a home without a 

warrant are presumptively unreasonable.” Brigham 

City v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398 (2006) (cleaned up). How-

ever, an exception exists for a warrantless entry into 

a residence under exigent circumstances, which ap-

plies when ‘“the exigencies of the situation’ make the 

needs of law enforcement so compelling that [a] war-

rantless search is objectively reasonable under the 

Fourth Amendment.” Id. (citation omitted); see also 

Groh v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551, 564 (2004) (“[A]bsent 

consent or exigency, a warrantless search of the home 

is presumptively unconstitutional.”). “The Govern-

ment bears the burden of demonstrating exigent 

circumstances.” United States v. Troop, 514 F.3d 405, 

409 (5th Cir. 2008). 

 
3 Compl. ¶ 77, ECF No. 1. 

4 Id. at ¶¶ 49–50. 
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Suicide risk is generally considered an exigent cir-

cumstance. See Clark v. Thompson, 850 F. App’x 203, 

210-11 (5th Cir. 2021); Rice v. ReliaStar Life Ins., 770 

F.3d 1122, 1131 (5th Cir. 2014). “If an individual poses 

a threat to himself, that ‘may create an exigency that 

makes the needs of law enforcement so compelling 

that a warrantless entry is objectively reasonable un-

der the Fourth Amendment.’” Clark, 850 F. App’x at 

210 (quoting Rice, 770 F.3d at 1131). The Fifth Circuit 

requires that the officer’s belief that a person is immi-

nently at risk of seriously injuring himself be 

objectively reasonable. Rice, 770 F.3d at 1132. 

In Rice, the court found that a deputy did not vio-

late the plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment rights when he 

entered a decedent’s home without a warrant with 

knowledge that the decedent was suicidal, had a gun, 

had been drinking, and was sitting in his truck hold-

ing a gun to his head. Id. Similarly, in Clark, the Fifth 

Circuit upheld the district court’s finding that the of-

ficers acted reasonably in entering the plaintiff’s home 

without a warrant “because they were responding to a 

call about [the plaintiff] being a possible suicide threat 

and found the pills he was allegedly planning to use 

to commit suicide.” Clark, 850 F. App’x at 210. The 

Fifth Circuit held that “[w]ith information that [the 

plaintiff] was a suicide risk and had the means to act 

on it (pills), [the defendant-officer] could have reason-

ably believed there was not sufficient time to obtain a 

warrant before taking [the plaintiff] into custody.” Id. 

at 211 (cleaned up). The court further held that “[t]he 

exigency of a credible risk that a person is about to 

end their life justifies the warrantless entries into [the 

plaintiff’s] hotel room and home.” Id. 
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The facts of Rice and Clark resemble those pre-

sented here. Deputy Gallardo did not violate Winder’s 

Fourth Amendment rights when he allegedly entered 

the Winder home without a warrant because he did so 

with an objectively reasonable belief that there was 

an imminent threat of Winder seriously injuring him-

self. Deputy Gallardo was dispatched to the Winder 

home by a call describing a suicidal male possibly in 

possession of a gun.5 His alleged warrantless entry 

was therefore prompted by credible information that 

Winder both “was a suicide risk and had the means to 

act on it.” Clark, 850 F. App’x at 211 (emphasis 

added). Based on these facts, as alleged in Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint, it was objectively reasonable for Deputy 

Gallardo to believe he needed to protect Winder from 

imminent injury.6 

Under such circumstances, it was objectively rea-

sonable for Deputy Gallardo to believe that there was 

not sufficient time in which to secure a warrant before 

entering the Winder home. Therefore, exigent circum-

stances existed to justify making a warrantless entry 

into the Winder residence, and Winder’s Fourth 

Amendment rights were not violated. Accordingly, 

Plaintiffs’ warrantless entry claims should be DIS-

MISSED. 

 
5 Compl. ¶ 40, ECF No. 1. 

6 Reitz v. Woods, 85 F.4th 780 (5th Cir. 2023) does not 

change this outcome. In Reitz, the officers knew from their post-

entry investigation that the initial 911 call was inaccurate and 

that the plaintiff only had a pellet gun. The Fifth Circuit held 

that officers “may not disregard facts tending to dissipate proba-

ble cause.” Id. at 791. Here, Officer Gallardo had no such 

information, and his investigation after arriving at the Winder 

residence revealed the 911 call was accurate and that Winder did 

have a gun. 



25a 

 

 

B. Excessive Force 

Next, Plaintiffs bring a claim against Deputy Gal-

lardo for excessive force. Fourth Amendment 

excessive force claims are analyzed under a reasona-

bleness standard. Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 

388 (1989). To prevail on his Fourth Amendment ex-

cessive force claim, Plaintiffs must establish “(1) 

injury, (2) which resulted directly and only from a use 

of force that was clearly excessive, and (3) the exces-

siveness of which was clearly unreasonable.” Deville 

v. Marcantel, 567 F.3d 156, 167 (5th Cir. 2009) 

(cleaned up). 

The “reasonableness” prong is an objective in-

quiry: “the question is whether the officers’ actions are 

‘objectively reasonable’ in light of the facts and cir-

cumstances confronting them, without regard to their 

underlying intent or motivation.” Graham, 490 U.S. 

at 397. “The ‘reasonableness’ of a particular use of 

force must be judged from the perspective of a reason-

able officer on the scene, rather than with the 20/20 

vision of hindsight.” Id. at 396. “The calculus of rea-

sonableness must embody allowance for the fact that 

police officers are often forced to make split-second 

judgments—in circumstances that are tense, uncer-

tain, and rapidly evolving—about the amount of force 

that is necessary in a particular situation.” Id. at 396-

97. 

In deadly force claims, “[a]n officer’s use of deadly 

force is not excessive, and thus no constitutional vio-

lation occurs, when the officer reasonably believes 

that the suspect poses a threat of serious harm to the 

officer or to others.” Manis v. Lawson, 585 F.3d 839, 

843 (5th Cir. 2009). “The excessive force inquiry is 

confined to whether the [officer or another person] 
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was in danger at the moment of the threat that re-

sulted in the [officer’s use of deadly force].” Bazan ex 

rel. Bazan v. Hidalgo Cnty., 246 F.3d 481, 493 (5th 

Cir. 2001) (citing Fraire v. City of Arlington, 957 F.2d 

1268, 1276 (5th Cir. 1992) (“[R]egardless of what had 

transpired up until the shooting itself, [the suspect’s] 

movements gave the officer reason to believe, at that 

moment, that there was a threat of physical harm.”)). 

“A police officer does not have to permit a suspect 

to aim his weapon before answering the threat.” Jones 

v. Shivers, 697 F. App’x 334 (5th Cir. 2017) (citing Sal-

azar-Limon v. City of Hous., 826 F.3d 272, 279 n.6 (5th 

Cir. 2016)). As the Fifth Circuit noted in Salazar-

Limon, “we have never required officers to wait until 

a defendant turns towards them, with weapon in 

hand, before applying deadly force to ensure their 

safety.” 826 F.3d at 279 n.6. And it must be re-empha-

sized in this particular context that “[t]he question is 

one of ‘objective reasonableness,’ not subjective intent, 

and an officer’s conduct must be judged in light of the 

circumstances confronting him, without the benefit of 

hindsight.” Manis, 585 F.3d at 843 (citations omitted). 

Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether Deputy Gal-

lardo reasonably perceived a threat of serious physical 

harm to himself or his fellow officers at the time he 

discharged his weapon. This analysis is limited to only 

the circumstances in existence when Deputy Gallardo 

made the decision to discharge his weapon. Rockwell 

v. Brown, 664 F.3d 985, 993 (5th Cir. 2011) (“We need 

not look at any other moment in time.”); Harris v. 

Serpas, 745 F.3d 767, 772 (5th Cir. 2014) (“[A]ny of 

the officers’ actions leading up to the shooting are not 

relevant for the purposes of an excessive force inquiry 

in this Circuit.”). 
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Generally, it is unreasonable for an officer to shoot 

a suspect the officer knows is unarmed and not ag-

gressive. Poole v. City of Shreveport, 13 F.4th 420, 424 

(5th Cir. 2021); see also Waller v. Hanlon, 922 F.3d 

590, 599 (5th Cir. 2019). “But if the officer believes the 

suspect has a gun, the calculation changes—even if 

there was never, in fact, a gun.” Allen v. Hays, 65 

F.4th 736, 745 (5th Cri. 2023). An officer’s use of 

deadly force may be reasonable when the officer could 

reasonably believe the suspect was reaching for or had 

a weapon. See Ontiveros v. City of Rosenberg, 564 F.3d 

379, 385 (5th Cir. 2009) (finding that an officer did not 

use excessive force even though a subsequent search 

of the bedroom revealed no weapons); Reese v. Ander-

son, 926 F.2d 494, 501 (5th Cir. 1991) (finding that 

police did not use excessive force when a decedent re-

peatedly refused to keep hands raised and appeared 

to be reaching for an object, despite the “fact that [the 

decedent] was actually unarmed”). But an officer is 

not free from liability just because he claims to have 

seen a gun. Rather, the ultimate “question is whether 

the officer’s belief that he saw a gun was sufficiently 

reasonable to justify the use of deadly force in light of 

all the surrounding circumstances.” Allen, 65 F.4th at 

748. 

Applying these standards, the Court concludes 

that Deputy Gallardo’s shooting of Winder was rea-

sonable. At this stage, the Court takes Plaintiffs’ 

factual assertion that Winder was unarmed at the 

time Deputy Gallardo shot him as true. But it is none-

theless irrelevant. As described in Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint, Winder got out of his chair, grabbed his 

gun, and walked toward the bedroom door while 
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yelling.7 Mrs. Phillips told Deputy Gallardo that 

Winder was armed. Indeed, Mrs. Phillips herself be-

lieved that Winder had a gun at the time of the 

shooting.8 Upon seeing Winder come out of the bed-

room, Deputy Gallardo immediately reported on his 

radio that “He’s got a gun” and commanded him to 

“Put it down” multiple times.9 

Even if Winder was unarmed, Deputy Gallardo 

could not have known this. To the contrary, Deputy 

Gallardo believed, just as Mrs. Phillips did, that 

Winder was armed in the very moment he yelled “He’s 

got a gun. He’s got a gun.” Under these circumstances, 

a reasonable officer could fear for his safety and that 

of others nearby. Based on Ms. Phillip’s comments, 

Deputy Gallardo could have reasonably believed that 

Winder had a gun and was about to fire it in the close 

quarters of the home—meaning he had probable cause 

to believe that Winder “pose[d] a threat of serious 

physical harm.” Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 11 

(1985). In this instance, Deputy Gallardo was justified 

in using deadly force to defend himself and others 

around him. 

The Fifth Circuit decisions in Allen and Waller are 

not to the contrary. In Allen, the decedent did not have 

a gun, there was not a gun in his car or his vicinity, 

the officer had no reason to believe that the decedent 

had a gun, and the decedent never moved his hands 

out of the officer’s line of sight. Allen, F.4th at 745. 

Likewise, in Waller “the plaintiffs’ specific and de-

tailed factual pleadings about the crime-scene 

 
7 Compl. ¶¶ 52–54, ECF No. 1. 

8 Id. at ¶¶ 90–91. 

9 Id. at ¶ 55.  
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evidence make plausible their allegation that [the de-

cedent] followed the [officer’s] commands, put down 

his weapon, and was unarmed when the [officer] shot 

him.” Waller, 922 F.3d at 601. In Allen and Waller, the 

plaintiffs plausibly alleged that the officers had actual 

knowledge that the decedents were unarmed and not 

aggressive. For Deputy Gallardo, all the signs pointed 

to the contrary. 

Therefore, the Court concludes that Deputy Gal-

lardo did not violate Winder’s Fourth Amendment 

protection against unreasonable seizure since Deputy 

Gallardo’s use of force against Winder was justified 

and reasonable. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ excessive 

force claims should be DISMISSED.  

C. Supervisory Liability 

Plaintiffs also bring a Fourth Amendment failure-

to-supervise claim against Sherriff Babcock. “Under 

section 1983, supervisory officials are not liable for the 

actions of subordinates on any theory of vicarious lia-

bility.” Thompson v. Upshur Cnty., 245 F.3d 447, 459 

(5th Cir. 2001) (citation omitted). To establish Section 

1983 supervisory liability against Sheriff Babcock, 

Plaintiffs must show that “(1) the police chief failed to 

supervise or train the officer; (2) a causal connection 

existed between the failure to supervise or train and 

the violation of the plaintiff's rights; and (3) the fail-

ure to supervise or train amounted to deliberate 

indifference to the plaintiff’s constitutional rights.” 

Roberts v. City of Shreveport, 397 F.3d 287, 292 (5th 

Cir. 2005). In the Complaint, Plaintiffs fail to suffi-

ciently plead facts in support of the third element. 

“Deliberate indifference is a stringent standard, 

requiring proof that a municipal actor disregarded a 

known or obvious consequence of his action.” Valle v. 
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City of Houston, 613 F.3d 536, 547 (5th Cir. 2010) (ci-

tation omitted). To establish deliberate indifference, a 

plaintiff must usually demonstrate a pattern of simi-

lar violations. Id. However, a plaintiff can still 

establish deliberate indifference—even without evi-

dence of a pattern of violations—under the single 

incident exception. Id. at 549. This exception is nar-

row and requires evidence “that the highly predictable 

consequence of a failure to train [or supervise] would 

result in the specific injury suffered, and that the fail-

ure to train [or supervise] represented the moving 

force behind the constitutional violation.” Id. (cleaned 

up) (emphasis in original). 

The Fifth Circuit has held that failing to respond 

to a history of “bad or unwise acts” that “demonstrate 

lack of judgment, crudity, and, perhaps illegalities” is 

not enough for deliberate indifference. Estate of Davis 

ex rel. McCully v. City of N. Richland Hills, 406 F.3d 

375, 383 (5th Cir. 2005) (cleaned up). On the other 

hand, a policymaker’s “continued adherence to an ap-

proach that they know or should know has failed to 

prevent tortious conduct by employees may establish 

the conscious disregard for the consequences of their 

action—the ‘deliberate indifference’—necessary to 

trigger municipal liability.” Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs of 

Bryan Cnty. v. Brown, 520 U.S. 397, 407 (1997) (cita-

tion omitted). “[E]ven a facially innocuous policy will 

support liability if it was promulgated with deliberate 

indifference to the ‘known or obvious consequences’ 

that constitutional violations would result.” Pi-

otrowski v. City of Hous., 237 F.3d 567, 579 (5th Cir. 

2001) (quoting Bryan Cnty., 520 U.S. at 407). 

Plaintiffs do not allege or produce any facts about 

similar incidents and thus appear to seek to establish 
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liability under the single incident exception.10 So 

Plaintiffs must demonstrate deliberate indifference 

under the single incident rule. Plaintiffs argue that: 

(1) the lack of an onduty supervisor while Deputy Gal-

lardo was on his way to the Winder residence “gives a 

plausible inference to Sheriff Babcock’s deliberate in-

difference”; (2) Sherriff Babcock knew that Deputy 

Gallardo needed greater training and supervision be-

cause of his history of poor judgment; (3) Deputy 

Dwyer’s apology to Mrs. Phillip’s for not getting to the 

scene sooner “further evidences Sheriff Babcock’s de-

liberate indifference to having Deputy Gallardo 

adequately trained and properly supervised”; and (4) 

Sheriff Babcock’s experience as a peace officer for over 

ten years as well as additional training made him 

aware that the fatal shooting of a mentally ill person 

is avoidable with proper training and supervision.11 

But in the absence of a prior incident, the training 

and supervisory deficiencies must have been so obvi-

ous that the shooting here would have appeared to 

Sheriff Babcock as a “highly predictable consequence.” 

Valle, 613 F.3d at 549 (requiring more proof of the pos-

sibility of recurring situations than that sending a 

rookie trained officer to a situation involving mental 

health individuals would likely constitute the use of 

excessive force). 

The Court finds no evidence in Plaintiffs’ Com-

plaint or pleadings to support that Sherriff Babcock 

was aware that a shooting such as this was a highly 

predictable result of the training and supervision be-

ing provided. First, this was not a “narrow and 

 
10 Pls’ Resp. 45, ECF No. 14.  

11 Compl. ¶ 109–15, ECF No. 1 
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extreme” incident, necessary to show deliberate indif-

ference. Littell v. Houston Indep. Sch. Dist., 894 F.3d 

616, 627 (explaining that “deliberate indifference can 

be inferred only in narrow and extreme circum-

stances.”). As discussed at-length above, the Fifth 

Circuit has routinely upheld the use of force in cases 

when an officer reasonably believes that a decedent 

has a gun. Next, Plaintiffs did not allege high predict-

ability in the form of a pattern of violations or the 

proclivities of Deputy Gallardo. Instead, Plaintiffs 

merely allege that Gallardo had poor judgment, that 

Deputy Dwyer apologized to Mrs. Phillips, and that 

Sherriff Babcock received substantial training on cri-

sis intervention. Without more, Plaintiffs have not 

produced any facts, taken as true, that can sustain a 

holding that Sherriff Babcock was deliberately indif-

ferent here. 

Having found insufficient facts to support a pat-

tern or single incident exception, the Court finds that 

Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate a plausible claim 

of supervisory liability. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claims 

against Sherriff Babcock for supervisory liability 

should be DISMISSED. 

D. Monell Liability 

Plaintiffs additionally brings a municipal liability 

claim against Young County under Section 1983. 

“[M]unicipal liability under section 1983 requires 

proof of three elements: a policymaker; an official pol-

icy; and a violation of constitutional rights whose 

‘moving force’ is the policy or custom.” Piotrowski, 237 

F.3d at 578 (citing Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 

U.S. 658, 694 (1978)). “‘[I]t is well established that 

there must be an underlying constitutional violation 

for there to be a claim under Monell.’” Landry v. 
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Laborde-Lahoz, 852 Fed. App’x 123, 127 (5th Cir. 

2021) (quoting Taite v. City of Fort Worth Texas, 681 

F. App’x 307, 309 (5th Cir. 2017)). 

Because the Court holds that Winder’s constitu-

tional rights were not violated, Plaintiffs’ claims 

against Young County for municipal liability should 

be DISMISSED. 

E. ADA Violations 

Finally, Plaintiffs allege that Young County dis-

criminated against Winder under Title II of the 

ADA.12 To prevail under this statute, a plaintiff must 

show: “(1) that he has a qualifying disability; (2) that 

he is being denied the benefits of services, programs, 

or activities for which the public entity is responsible, 

or is otherwise discriminated against by the public en-

tity; and (3) that such discrimination is by reason of 

his disability.” Hale v. King, 642 F.3d 492, 499 (5th 

Cir. 2011) (citing Melton v. Dall. Area Rapid Transit, 

391 F.3d 669, 671-72 (5th Cir. 2004)). 

Plaintiffs assert that (1) Young County discrimi-

nated against Winder through Deputy Gallardo’s 

conduct and (2) Young County failed to accommodate 

Winder. Defendants argue that the ADA does not ap-

ply because Deputy Gallardo faced exigent 

circumstances.13 

The ADA does not reach an officer’s conduct when 

they act in the face of exigent circumstances. See 

Hainze v. Richards, 207 F.3d 795, 801 (5th Cir. 2000). 

In Hainze, police officers received a call from a woman 

requesting that the police transport her suicidal 

 
12 Compl. ¶ 140, ECF No. 1.  

13 Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss 18, ECF No. 8. 
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nephew to a hospital for mental health treatment. The 

woman told the police that “[the plaintiff] had a his-

tory of depression and was under the influence of 

alcohol and anti-depressants, carrying a knife, and 

threatening to commit suicide or ‘suicide by cop.’” Id. 

at 797. Two officers were dispatched to a convenience 

store where the plaintiff was located. Upon their arri-

val, the officers saw the plaintiff standing by the 

passenger door of an occupied truck. The plaintiff ap-

peared to be holding the truck door handle and talking 

to the truck occupants. In response, one officer got out 

of his car, drew his weapon, and ordered the plaintiff 

to move away from the truck. While holding a knife, 

the plaintiff responded with profanities and walked 

towards the officer. The officer ordered the plaintiff to 

stop, but he did not. When the plaintiff was within a 

few feet of the officer, that officer shot him twice in the 

chest. Id. 

The Hainze plaintiff then claimed that the county 

failed to reasonably accommodate his disability under 

the ADA. The Fifth Circuit held that “Title II [of the 

ADA] does not apply to an officer’s on-the-street re-

sponses to reported disturbances, whether or not 

those calls involve subjects with mental disabilities,” 

until the responding officer has “secur[ed] the scene” 

and “ensur[ed] that there is no threat to human life.” 

Id. at 801. In particular, “in the presence of exigent 

circumstances and prior to securing the safety of 

themselves, other officers, and any nearby civilians,” 

police officers are not required to comply with the 

ADA. Id. 

When Deputy Gallardo entered the Winder resi-

dence here, he reasonably believed Winder may have 

been armed, was then told by Mrs. Phillips that 
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Winder was armed, heard Winder making aggressive 

comments, and saw Winder exit the bedroom door and 

move toward him.14 

Based on these facts as alleged in Plaintiffs’ Com-

plaint, Deputy Gallardo was justified in his belief that 

the scene was not secure and that Winder posed a dan-

ger to his life and others. Indeed, Deputy Gallardo had 

“to instantaneously identify, assess, and react” to a 

potentially life-threatening situation. Hainze, 207 

F.3d at 801. “To require [Gallardo] to factor in 

whether [his] actions are going to comply with the 

ADA, in the presence of [these] exigent circumstances 

and prior to securing the safety of [himself, Mrs. Phil-

lips, Winder] and any nearby civilians, would pose an 

unnecessary risk to innocents.” Id. Therefore, Deputy 

Gallardo’s conduct at the scene does not give rise to 

claim under Title II of the ADA. Plaintiffs’ claims 

against Young County for ADA violations should be 

DISMISSED. 

  

 
14 Compl. ¶¶ 52–55, ECF No. 1. 
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IV.CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, it is ORDERED 

that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 8) 

should be and is hereby GRANTED for “failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted,” FED. 

R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6) and that all claims alleged against 

Defendants in Plaintiffs’ Complaint (ECF No. 1) are 

hereby DISMISSED. Plaintiffs may seek leave to 

amend their claims no later than January 8, 2024. 

SO ORDERED on this 18th day of December, 

2023. 
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APPENDIX C 

 

United States Court of Appeals 

for the Fifth Circuit 
 

No. 24-10017 

 

LATRISHA WINDER, Individually, as next friend of 

J.W., a minor and as personal representative of THE 

ESTATE OF STEPHEN WAYNE WINDER, Deceased; LILY 

WINDER; STEPHEN TYLER WINDER; KOLENE WINDER, 

as next friend of E.W., a minor, 

Plaintiffs—Appellants, 

versus 

JOSHUA M. GALLARDO; ROBERT TRAVIS BABCOCK; 

YOUNG COUNTY, TEXAS, 

Defendants—Appellees. 

 

 

Appeal from the United States District Court 

for the Northern District of Texas 

USDC No. 7:23-CV-59 

 

ON PETITION FOR REHEARING EN BANC 

Before JONES, WILLETT, and ENGELHARDT, Circuit 

Judges. 
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PER CURIAM: 

Treating the petition for rehearing en banc as a 

petition for panel rehearing (5TH CIR. R. 35 I.O.P.), the 

petition for panel rehearing is DENIED. Because no 

member of the panel or judge in regular active service 

requested that the court be polled on rehearing en 

banc (FED. R. APP. P. 35 and 5TH CIR. R. 35), the peti-

tion for rehearing en banc is DENIED. 
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APPENDIX D 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

WICHITA FALLS DIVISION 

 

LATRISHA WINDER, 

INDIVIDUALLY, AS 

NEXT FRIEND OF 

J.W., A MINOR, AND 

AS PERSONAL 

REPRESENTATIVE 

OF THE ESTATE OF 

STEPHEN WAYNE 

WINDER, DECEASED, 

LILY WINDER, 

STEPHEN TYLER 

WINDER, AND 

KOLENE WINDER, AS 

NEXT FRIEND OF 

E.W., A MINOR 

 

    PLAINTIFFS, 

v. 

JOSHUA M. 

GALLARDO, ROBERT 

TRAVIS BABCOCK, 

AND YOUNG 

COUNTY, TEXAS 

 

    DEFENDANTS. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 
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§ 
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Case No. ________ 

 

JURY DEMANDED 

 

COMPLAINT 
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TO THE HONORABLE UNITED STATES DISTRICT 

JUDGE: 

1. This is a Section 1983 civil rights action for 

violations of constitutional rights and a civil action for 

violations of the Americans With Disabilities Act. 

2. On Sunday evening, June 27, 2021, Steve 

Winder, a husband and father of four, was inside his 

home in rural Young County, Texas near the city of 

Graham. Steve and his mother-in-law Lou Anne Phil-

lips were in his bedroom talking. Steve’s wife Latrisha 

Winder was in the United States Army National 

Guard and was at Fort Lee, Virginia for training. 

3. Steve, who had a history of depression, was 

intoxicated and emotionally disturbed; he was upset 

with Latrisha and had threatened suicide to her. Con-

cerned, Latrisha had called her mother Lou Anne, 

who lived right next to the Winders, and asked her to 

go over and check on Steve. Steve, who had his hand-

gun near him in the bedroom, discussed the situation 

with Lou Anne, and after he and Lou Anne had talked 

through it, Lou Anne believed that Steve was not sui-

cidal and that the situation was under control.  

4. But Latrisha had also called the Young 

County Sheriff’s Office at the behest of an Army chap-

lain and asked them to do a welfare check on Steve. 

Sheriff’s Deputy Joshua Gallardo, a twenty-three-

year-old rookie officer, was dispatched to the Winder 

home, along with Sheriff’s Deputy Simon Dwyer, an 

experienced officer. They were eating dinner at a res-

taurant at the time of the dispatch. They had separate 

patrol vehicles, and because Deputy Gallardo finished 

eating before Deputy Dwyer, he left the restaurant 

first. 
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5. Deputy Gallardo arrived at the Winder prop-

erty several minutes before Deputy Dwyer and, with 

his body cam on, approached the Winder home with-

out displaying any urgency. Deputy Gallardo first ran 

into Steve’s niece Breanna, who was outside her 

grandmother Lou Anne’s home. Breanna, also dis-

playing no urgency or alarm, walked Deputy Gallardo 

over to the Winders’ front porch. 

6. Seemingly at ease with the situation and 

still not displaying any urgency, Deputy Gallardo 

asked Breanna to open the front door, but she refused 

and instead knocked. No one came to the door 

promptly. Deputy Gallardo, who had either no train-

ing or extremely inadequate training by the Young 

County Sheriff’s Office on how to approach and handle 

an emotionally disturbed, mentally ill, and armed su-

icidal man, opened the front door without knocking 

and made entry into the Winder home in violation of 

the Fourth Amendment. 

7. Deputy Gallardo encountered Lou Anne, 

who was stepping outside Steve’s nearby bedroom to 

come to the front door and was starting to tell Deputy 

Gallardo that they were all right. Steve came to the 

bedroom doorway, and Deputy Gallardo, mistakenly 

believing that Steve was pointing a gun at him, shot 

and killed Steve in violation of the Fourth Amend-

ment. After the shooting, Steve’s gun was located 

approximately thirteen feet from where Steve was 

standing when he was shot. 

8. Plaintiffs therefore bring this civil action for 

the violations of Steve’s civil rights and to recover 

damages for Steve’s injuries and for their injuries 

from Steve’s wrongful death. 

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
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9. This court has subject matter jurisdiction of 

this civil action under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1343(a)(3, 4). 

10. Venue is proper in this district under 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1, 2). All the parties reside in, or, at 

the time the events took place, resided in this district, 

and the events giving rise to the Plaintiffs’ claims oc-

curred in this district. Young County is in the Wichita 

Falls Division of the Northern District of Texas. 28 

U.S.C. § 124(a)(6), 

II. PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Latrisha Winder is a resident of 

Young County, Texas, the wife and widow of Stephen 

W. Winder, the Personal Representative of the Estate 

of Stephen Wayne Winder, Deceased, and the parent 

and next friend of J.W., her and Steve’s minor daugh-

ter. 

12. Plaintiff Lily Winder is a resident of Young 

County, Texas and the daughter of Steve Winder. 

13. Plaintiff Stephen Tyler Winder is a resident 

of Young County, Texas and the son of Steve Winder. 

14. Plaintiff Kolene Winder, the parent and next 

friend of E.W., the minor daughter of Steve Winder, is 

a resident of Young County, Texas. 

15. Plaintiffs are proper parties to this civil ac-

tion. See Baker v. Putnal, 75 F.3d 190, 195 (5th Cir. 

1996) (“it is the law of this circuit that individuals who 

are within the class of people entitled to recover under 

Texas’s wrongful death statute have standing to sue 

under § 1983 for their own injuries from the depriva-

tion of decedent’s constitutional rights”); Tex. Civ. 

Prac. & Rem. Code. § 71.004(b); see also Diaz ex rel. 

Diaz v. Mayor of Corpus Christi, 121 Fed. App’x 36, 39 
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(5th Cir. 2005); Cass v. City of Abilene, No. 1:13-CV-

177-C, 2014 WL 12642539, at *2 (N.D. Tex. Feb. 25, 

2014). 

16. Defendant Joshua M. Gallardo is employed 

by the Young County Sheriff’s Office as a Deputy 

Sheriff and at all relevant times acted as an agent and 

employee of Young County, Texas under color of law. 

On information and belief, Defendant Joshua M. Gal-

lardo is a resident of Young County, Texas. Defendant 

Joshua M. Gallardo can be served at the Young 

County Sheriff’s Office, 315 N. Cliff Drive, Graham, 

Texas 76450. 

17. Defendant Robert Travis Babcock is the 

Sheriff of Young County, Texas and at all relevant 

times acted as an agent and employee of Young 

County, Texas under color of law. Defendant Robert 

Travis Babcock is a resident of Young County, Texas 

and can be served at the Young County Sheriff’s Of-

fice, 315 N. Cliff Drive, Graham, Texas 76450. 

18. Defendant Young County, Texas can be 

served by serving its County Judge, Edwin S. Graham 

IV, at 516 Fourth Street, Graham, Texas 76450. 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Steve Winder 

19. In June of 2021, at age 39, Steve Winder was 

a successful auto mechanic. He was employed fulltime 

at an annual salary of $100,000. Steve and Latrisha 

Winder had married in 2013, and their daughter J.W. 

was born in 2014. Steve had three children from his 

first marriage: two daughters, Lily Winder and E.W., 

and a son, Stephen Tyler Winder. 

20. Steve and Latrisha lived in rural Young 

County, Texas near Graham on approximately nine 
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acres of land, and their rural street address was 3640 

FM 2652, Graham, Texas. They had a pool, and La-

trisha’s mother Lou Anne Phillips lived in a house 

next to Steve and Latrisha’s house. In June of 2021, 

Steve’s daughter E.W. was living with Steve and La-

trisha. Latrisha’s sister Vickie Burleson and Vickie’s 

daughter Breanna Lackey lived across the road from 

the Winders. 

21. Steve had a history of depression. During his 

first marriage, Steve threatened suicide and received 

treatment for depression. In June of 2021, Steve was 

believed to be taking Prozac for depression. 

B. Young County Sheriff’s Office and Deputy 

Sheriff Gallardo 

22. Young County’s population in 2021 was ap-

proximately 18,000. Defendant Travis Babcock is the 

Young County Sheriff. Being a rural county with a 

very small population, the Young County Sheriff’s Of-

fice has a small number of deputy sheriffs. 

23. Defendant Joshua M. Gallardo became em-

ployed by the Young County Sheriff’s Office as a 

Deputy Sheriff on November 2, 2020. Before filing this 

civil action, Plaintiffs’ counsel requested that the 

Young County Sheriff’s Office provide Deputy Gal-

lardo’s non-confidential employment records and the 

Young County Sheriff’s Office’s investigative report of 

the Winder shooting under the Texas Public Infor-

mation Act. The Young County Sheriff’s Office refused 

to produce these requested documents. 

24. Before becoming a licensed peace officer, 

Deputy Gallardo first was a jailer for the Wichita 

County Sheriff’s Office for approximately four and 

one-half years. The Wichita County Sheriff’s Office 

performance evaluations for Deputy Gallardo reflect 
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that his judgment and decision-making were poor, as 

was his knowledge of methods and procedures—they 

did not meet expectations and improvement was 

needed. 

25. After attending the Police Academy at 

Vernon College in 2019-2020 and becoming a licensed 

Texas peace officer on July 1, 2020, Deputy Gallardo’s 

first job was as a Sheriff’s Deputy with the Ochiltree 

County Sheriff’s Office in Perryton, Texas. While on 

probationary status, and after only approximately 

three months, Deputy Gallardo was either fired or 

was asked to resign after an incident involving his 

poor judgment while on duty guarding a hospitalized 

jail inmate. Deputy Gallardo’s employment history 

also includes being fired by Wal-Mart. 

26. After separating from the Ochiltree County 

Sheriff’s Office in October 2020, Deputy Gallardo was 

hired by the Young County Sheriff’s Office and started 

on November 2, 2020. 

C. Sunday, June 27, 2021 

27. On Sunday, June 27, 2021, Latrisha was at 

Fort Lee, Virginia for Advanced Individual Training. 

Latrisha had recently joined the United States Army 

National Guard. She had last been home in March of 

2021 and had last seen Steve in person on June 3, 

2021.  

28. On Sunday afternoon, Steve, family mem-

bers, and relatives were swimming in the Winders’ 

pool. Steve had also been drinking that afternoon. 

Steve accidentally got in the pool with his cell phone, 

so he went inside, found and charged Latrisha’s old 

cell phone and put his SIM card in it, and found Face-

book messages between Latrisha and her ex-husband 

whom she had divorced in 2001. Latrisha’s ex-
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husband had started sending Facebook messages to 

Latrisha in 2019 about wanting to get back together 

with Latrisha, but she declined. Latrisha, however, 

had not told Steve about these messages. 

29. Around 4:00 PM, Steve came over to Lou 

Anne’s house appearing upset and asked her to look 

at the messages on Latrisha’s old cell phone. Lou 

Anne reviewed the messages and pointed out to Steve 

that, while Latrisha should not have been messaging 

with her ex-husband, her messages did not indicate a 

desire to get back together with him, and Steve agreed 

with Lou Anne. Steve then went back to his house. 

30. Concerned, Lou Anne went over to Steve’s 

house to check on him and found him in his bedroom. 

Steve asked to use Lou Anne’s cell phone to call La-

trisha, and Lou Anne left the bedroom while Steve and 

Latrisha talked. After that, Steve asked Lou Anne to 

take J.W. with her to Lou Anne’s house, which Lou 

Anne did. 

31. Back at her house, Lou Anne started receiv-

ing texts from Latrisha about Latrisha’s concern for 

Steve because she could not reach him. Latrisha then 

called Lou Anne, saying that she was with an Army 

chaplain and was worried about Steve because of his 

history of drinking too much and mental illness. Lou 

Anne went over to Steve’s house to check on him again 

and then returned home. Around 7:00 PM, Lou Anne 

received a Facetime call from Latrisha with an Army 

Chaplain, and Latrisha told Lou Anne that Steve had 

sent her a photo of him with a gun. Steve had taken 

photos of a handgun under his chin and to his head 

and had texted them to Latrisha, stating that he could 

not bear it anymore. Lou Anne told Latrisha that she 

would go and check on Steve again. 
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32. Lou Anne went to Steve’s house and into his 

bedroom to talk to him. From the outside, Steve’s bed-

room was to the right of the front door. The below 

photograph is an interior view of the front door and 

Steve’s bedroom door to the left. 

 

33. The following post-shooting image from the 

front porch depicts the open front door, the view from 

the porch of Steve’s bedroom door, and Deputy Gal-

lardo. 
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34. Steve was in his chair in the bedroom’s cor-

ner that was opposite the corner where the bedroom 

door was. The following photograph depicts the bed-

room from the bedroom door. 

 

35. Lou Anne sat on the bed to talk to Steve and 

noticed that his handgun was tucked between the 

bed’s sideboard and the mattress. Steve lawfully pos-

sessed this gun, having a constitutional right under 

the Second Amendment to possess a gun in his home. 

District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 635 

(2008). 

36. Lou Anne and Steve talked again about La-

trisha’s messaging with her ex-husband, how it was 

wrong but that everyone makes mistakes, and that 

Steve could forgive her. They also talked about how 

Steve knew that Latrisha loved him, and, choking up 

and crying, Steve talked about how much he loved La-

trisha and that she was his “world.” 

37. At that point, Lou Anne called her other 

daughter Vickie. Vickie’s daughter Breanna 



49a 

 

 

answered, and Lou Anne told her to tell Vickie to go 

to Lou Anne’s house to be with six-year-old J.W. 

Vickie and Breanna went to Lou Anne’s house. 

38. Meanwhile, at Fort Lee, the Army Chaplain 

had pressured Latrisha, against her wishes, to call lo-

cal law enforcement ask them to conduct a welfare 

check on Steve, so Latrisha called the Young County 

Sheriff’s Office. Latrisha asked them to do a welfare 

check on Steve because he had sent her photos of him 

with a gun to his head. In her call, Latrisha did not 

allege or report that Steve had committed or was go-

ing to commit a crime; she asked only that they “check 

on” Steve. In Latrisha’s call, she gave the dispatcher 

Steve’s phone number, but his number apparently 

was not passed on to the officers so that they could 

contact him by phone before attempting to confront 

him in person. 

39. Rookie Sheriff’s Deputy Joshua Gallardo, 

who was twenty-three years old, and Sheriff’s Deputy 

Simon Dwyer, an experienced peace officer for seven-

teen years, were partners that evening and were 

eating dinner at Taco Casa in Graham. They were dis-

patched to the Winder home to check on Steve for a 

possible suicide attempt. The dispatcher noted to the 

deputies that Steve “does have a gun” and a little later 

that the reporting party (Latrisha) had said that her 

husband had sent her a photo of himself holding a gun 

and had said to her that he could not bear this any-

more. Deputy Gallardo had finished his meal and left 

before Deputy Dwyer, who apparently did not sense 

an emergency and finished his meal, cleaned off their 

table, and then left for the Winder residence in re-

sponse to the call. 
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40. In Deputy Gallardo’s July 15, 2021 written 

statement, which was over two weeks after the shoot-

ing, he stated: 

At approximately 1955 hours, I was dispatched 

to a call involving a suicidal male with a gun at 

a residence, located at 3640 FM 2652. From rec-

ollection, I asked whether the male was 

currently trying to harm himself and was told 

that he had a gun and Dispatch said it was un-

known if the male was trying to hurt himself. I 

was told that the Reporting Person was not 

there so that person didn’t know whether he was 

trying to hurt himself. I was provided the male’s 

name but only heard his first name of Steve. 

[Emphasis added.]. 

41. Deputy Gallardo and Deputy Dwyer drove 

separate patrol vehicles to the Winder home, but Dep-

uty Gallardo arrived several minutes before Deputy 

Dwyer and approached the Winder home without dis-

playing any urgency. After exiting his patrol vehicle, 

Deputy Gallardo turned on his body cam and casually 

walked approximately 100 feet to the back of the 

Winder home and knocked on the back door. Again 

showing no urgency, Deputy Gallardo waited for ap-

proximately thirty seconds, and no one came to the 

back door. Deputy Gallardo then casually walked to 

the right between the Winder home and Lou Anne’s 

home, calling out “hello” twice. He then walked to-

ward the front of Lou Anne’s home, where he 

encountered nineteen-yearold Breanna, Steve’s niece, 

at Lou Anne’s carport. Deputy Gallardo asked 

Breanna if Steve was there, and Breanna said that he 

was but pointed at the Winder home. Deputy Gallardo 

said that he needed to talk to Steve. Deputy Gallardo 
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did not express any urgency to her or identify an on-

going emergency situation. 

42. Showing no urgency or alarm herself, 

Breanna first started to walk toward the Winder 

home with Deputy Gallardo but then turned, said she 

was going to get her mother, and went back toward 

Lou Anne’s front porch to tell her mother Vickie that 

a police officer was there and wanted to talk to Steve. 

Again showing no urgency, Deputy Gallardo waited 

on Breanna to return, with approximately forty sec-

onds passing after he first encountered Breanna 

before Breanna began to walk Deputy Gallardo to the 

Winder home a second time. As Breanna was return-

ing to Deputy Gallardo, dispatch notified him by radio 

that the caller’s mother “may be on the property try-

ing to make contact with the husband.” 

43. Meanwhile, Vickie called her mother Lou 

Anne to tell her that a police officer was there, wanted 

to talk to Steve, and was on the way over. Lou Anne, 

who was with Steve in his bedroom with the bedroom 

door closed, responded that she wished he would not 

come over because she knew how Steve felt about his 

privacy and his private property. 

44. After returning to Deputy Gallardo, Breanna 

casually walked toward the Winder home, displaying 

no urgency, and Deputy Gallardo followed behind her, 

likewise displaying no urgency. Vickie had started fol-

lowing Deputy Gallardo and Breanna to the Winder 

home and asked Deputy Gallardo how he was doing 

as he was approaching the Winders’ front porch, and 

Deputy Gallardo casually replied, “Good.” It took 

Breanna and Deputy Gallardo thirty-two seconds to 

walk from Lou Anne’s home to the Winders’ front 

door. 
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45. Below is an image from Deputy Gallardo’s 

body cam of the Winders’ front porch, with the front 

door on the left, the wall at the end being Steve’s bed-

room wall, and Breanna motioning Deputy Gallardo 

up the steps. 

 

46. When Breanna and Deputy Gallardo got to 

the porch steps, Breanna stopped, motioned for Dep-

uty Gallardo to go ahead and said, “Go ahead.” But 

Deputy Gallardo, again appearing at ease with the sit-

uation and displaying no urgency, casually motioned 

to Breanna to go ahead and said, “If you wanna just 

open the door.” Breanna approached the front door 

and, refusing to open the door, knocked instead. A 

muffled loud voice could be heard inside the house, 

and Breanna, appearing uncomfortable and pausing 

to try to hear inside, stepped away from the door. 

Breanna then told Deputy Gallardo, “They’re coming 

to the door … .” Deputy Gallardo replied, “Okay.” 

Breanna left the porch, and Deputy Gallardo stood on 

the porch for twenty seconds. None of Deputy 
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Gallardo’s and Breanna’s conversation or body lan-

guage indicated any urgency. 

47. While Deputy Gallardo and Breanna were 

talking outside Lou Anne’s home and then walking 

over to the Winder home, Lou Anne, after being 

phoned by Vickie and told that the police officer was 

coming over, told Steve that she wanted to take 

Steve’s gun and put it under the bed because a police 

officer was coming over. This made Steve upset, and 

he responded along the lines of: “I don’t give a [exple-

tive]. This is my home.” 

48. At that time, Lou Anne said that they could 

hear someone at the front door even though Steve’s 

bedroom door was closed. Lou Anne got up to go to the 

front door and told Steve that it was probably the po-

lice officer. Steve said to Lou Anne loudly and with an 

upset tone something like, “what the, this is my home” 

and grabbed his gun from the side of the bed. Lou 

Anne walked toward the bedroom door after seeing 

Steve pick up his gun and get out of his chair. 

D. The Unconstitutional Entry 

49. Instead of waiting for Deputy Dwyer, his ex-

perienced partner, to arrive, and instead of 

attempting to contact the sergeant on duty—if one 

was even on duty—Deputy Gallardo opened the front 

door of the Winder home without knocking and stood 

at the door’s threshold. According to Lou Anne, at 

some point Deputy Gallardo made a small step on or 

into the threshold. 

50. Deputy Gallardo did not have a warrant to 

enter the Winder home, and based on everything that 

had transpired once Deputy Gallardo had arrived at 

the Winder property, there were no exigent circum-

stances for Deputy Gallardo to make entry into the 
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Winder home. Also, conducting a welfare check does 

not justify a warrantless entry of a home under the 

Fourth Amendment. Caniglia v. Strom, 141 S.Ct. 

1596, 1599 (May 17, 2021). 

E. The Unconstitutional Shooting 

51. After opening the door, Deputy Gallardo 

said, “Hello, Sheriff’s Office.” Not getting a response, 

Deputy Gallardo said in a louder voice, “Steve.” Steve 

yelled out, “What?” and Lou Anne simultaneously 

opened the bedroom door but was not visible on Dep-

uty Gallardo’s body cam because Deputy Gallardo was 

positioned partially behind the right side of the front 

door frame. Lou Anne calmly said to Deputy Gallardo, 

“We’re right here. Can I help you?” Deputy Gallardo 

asked what was going on, and Steve yelled to him from 

his bedroom, “Don’t worry about it.” Lou Anne calmly 

said to Deputy Gallardo, “I’m talking to my son-in-

law. He’s upset right now but we’re … right now,” in-

tending to communicate to Deputy Gallardo that they 

were all right.  

52. At that point, Steve had gotten up from his 

chair with his gun and had begun walking toward the 

open bedroom door where Lou Anne was standing and 

talking to Deputy Gallardo. While looking at Steve af-

ter he had gotten up with his gun and was rounding 

the far corner of the bed, Lou Anne told him, “Steve, 

put it up.” This was the last time Lou Anne looked at 

Steve before he was shot. Steve again said loudly, 

“Don’t worry about … [inaudible].”  

53. Deputy Gallardo then reached for his gun 

and Lou Anne stopped looking at Steve and looked 

only at Deputy Gallardo as she noticed him reaching 

for his gun. Also at that time, the following was heard 

on Deputy Gallardo’s radio: “2318, I’m out.” This was 
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likely Deputy Dwyer announcing that he had arrived 

at the Winder property and was out of his patrol vehi-

cle. 

54. Because Deputy Gallardo had reached for his 

gun and moved to his left, Lou Ann became visible on 

his body cam. Seeing Deputy Gallardo draw his gun, 

Lou Anne took a small step outside the bedroom with 

her eyes on Deputy Gallardo and said to Officer Gal-

lardo while holding her right hand up to him in a 

gesture to stop, “He’s got a gun.” Steve was not visible 

on Deputy Gallardo’s body cam. Because Lou Anne 

saw Deputy Gallardo raise his gun and point it toward 

her and the bedroom doorway, Lou Anne was watch-

ing only Deputy Gallardo at this point and was not 

watching what Steve was doing beside and a little be-

hind her when he got to the bedroom doorway.  

55. After Lou Anne had said, “He’s got a gun,” 

Deputy Gallardo said on his radio, “He’s got a gun. 

He’s got a gun.” Steve was still not visible on Deputy 

Gallardo’s body cam. Lou Anne then took another 

small step with her right hand up to Deputy Gallardo, 

continuing to gesture to him to stop and also obviously 

pleading to him to stop and back off, but almost all her 

words are inaudible because Deputy Gallardo was 

talking at the same time, saying, “Put it down, man,” 

and then yelling, “Put it down.”  

56. The following image from Deputy Gallardo’s 

body cam depicts Lou Anne gesturing and pleading 

with Deputy Gallardo to stop and back off. 
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57. After yelling “put it down” the second time, 

Deputy Gallardo fired one shot at Steve with his Glock 

17 nine mm pistol while Steve was standing in the 

bedroom doorway next to and slightly behind Lou 

Anne but still not visible on Deputy Gallardo’s body 

cam. Steve screamed out in pain, and Lou Anne 

screamed, “Oh, Dear God.” Within four minutes of his 

arrival on the Winder property, Deputy Gallardo fa-

tally shot Steve in his own home. 

F. Deputy Dwyer Arrives 

58. Deputy Dwyer arrived on the Winder front 

porch approximately forty seconds after Deputy Gal-

lardo shot Steve. After entering Steve’s bedroom and 

examining the scene and Steve, who was on the floor 

at the foot of the bed, Deputy Dwyer pointed at a gun 

on the far back corner of the bed opposite to where 

Steve was standing when he was shot and asked Dep-

uty Gallardo if that was “the gun.” Deputy Gallardo 

responded affirmatively. 
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59. Deputy Dwyer then left Deputy Gallardo in 

the bedroom with Steve to secure the rest of the house, 

closing the bedroom door behind him. Deputy Dwyer 

began talking with Lou Anne and then Vickie, saying 

to her, “I’m sorry I couldn’t get here any quicker.” Lou 

Anne approached Deputy Dwyer with Latrisha on her 

cellphone on Facetime, and Deputy Dwyer told La-

trisha, “I apologize I couldn’t have got here any 

quicker than I did.” 

60. Deputy Dwyer then returned to Steve’s bed-

room to assist Deputy Gallardo with Steve and 

instructed Deputy Gallardo to secure Steve’s gun. 

Deputy Gallardo picked up Steve’s gun with his bare 

hands, removed the magazine and checked for a bullet 

in the chamber, and then set the gun and the maga-

zine on the chair. Deputy Gallardo then picked up 

Steve’s gun and the magazine again with his bare 

hands and left the house and put them in his patrol 

vehicle. 

IV. CAUSES OF ACTION 

61. Plaintiffs assert the following causes of ac-

tion under Section 1983 and the ADA. 

Section 1983 of Title 42 of the United Stated 

Code provides, in relevant part: Every person 

who, under color of [law] ... subjects ... any citi-

zen of the United States or other person within 

the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of 

any rights ... secured by the Constitution ..., 

shall be liable to the party injured in an action 

at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceed-

ing for redress ... . 

42 U.S.C. § 1983.  
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62. Section 1983 provides a cause of action to an 

individual harmed by a state official’s violation of fed-

eral law. Waller v. Hanlon, 922 F.3d 590, 599 (5th Cir. 

2019).  

63. A state official sued under Section 1983 is 

entitled to qualified immunity from damages, which 

protects the official from liability for any act that was 

not objectively unreasonable at the time of the act. 

Waller, 922 F.3d at 599. Qualified immunity protects 

“all but the plainly incompetent or those who know-

ingly violate the law.” Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 

341 (1986). This case includes both plainly incompe-

tent police conduct and knowing violations of the law. 

64. A plaintiff seeking to defeat qualified im-

munity must show: (1) that the official violated a 

statutory or constitutional right, and (2) that the right 

was “clearly established” at the time of the challenged 

conduct. Waller, 922 F.3d at 599. 

COUNT 1 

SECTION 1983 CLAIM FOR WARRANTLESS 

ENTRY 

65. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above 

allegations. 

66. The Fourth Amendment provides that “[t]he 

right of the people to be secure in their persons, 

houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable 

searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. 

CONST. amend. IV.  

67. “[W]hen it comes to the Fourth Amendment, 

the home is first among equals.” Florida v. Jardines, 

569 U.S. 1, 6 (2013). “At the Amendment’s ‘very core’ 

stands ‘the right of a man to retreat into his own home 

and there be free from unreasonable governmental 
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intrusion.’” Jardines, 569 U.S. at 6 (quoting Silver-

man v. United States, 365 U.S. 505, 511 (1961)). 

Supreme Court Fourth Amendment cases therefore 

“have firmly established the ‘basic principle of Fourth 

Amendment law that searches ... inside a home with-

out a warrant are presumptively unreasonable.’” Groh 

v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551, 559 (2004) (quoting Payton 

v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980)). 

68. The Supreme Court has repeatedly said that 

“ ‘physical entry of the home is the chief evil against 

which [the Fourth Amendment] is directed,’ ” Lange v. 

California, 141 S. Ct. 2011, 2018 (2021) (quoting Pay-

ton, 445 U.S. at 585), and that the Fourth Amendment 

draws a “bright” and “ ‘firm line at the entrance to the 

house.’ ” Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 40 (2001) 

(quoting Payton, 445 U.S. at 590). 

69. The Supreme Court has “made clear that any 

physical invasion of the structure of the home, ‘by 

even a fraction of an inch’ was too much.” Id. (quoting 

Silverman, 365 U.S. at 512). “[T]here is certainly no 

exception to the warrant requirement for the officer 

who barely cracks open the front door and sees noth-

ing but the nonintimate rug on the vestibule floor.” Id. 

“Payton did not draw the line one or two feet into the 

home; it drew the line at the home’s entrance.” E.R. v. 

Jasso, 573 F. Supp. 3d 1117, 1134 (W.D. Tex. 2021), 

aff’d, No. 22-50017, 2022 WL 4103621 (5th Cir. Sept. 

8, 2022) (quoting United States v. Berkowitz, 927 F.2d 

1376, 1388 (7th Cir. 1991)). 

70. Steve’s Fourth Amendment right to be free 

from a warrantless entry into his home was clearly es-

tablished law. In opening Steve’s front door and 

making entry into Steve’s home, Deputy Gallardo 
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violated Steve’s Fourth Amendment right by his war-

rantless entry into Steve’s home. 

71. An exception to the Fourth Amendment’s 

warrant requirement for community caretaking (e.g., 

a welfare check) did not exist on June 27, 2021. On 

May 17, 2021, the United States Supreme Court held 

that community caretaking is not an exception to the 

Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement for entry 

into a residence. Caniglia v. Strom, 141 S.Ct. 1596, 

1599 (May 17, 2021). 

72. Exigent circumstances were not present to 

justify Deputy Gallardo’s warrantless entry. Officers 

may enter a home without a warrant “where exigent 

circumstances,” such as “the need to assist persons 

who are seriously injured or threatened with such in-

jury,” justify the entry. United States v. Toussaint, 

838 F.3d 503, 507 (5th Cir. 2016) (quoting Brigham 

City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 400, 403 (2006)). 

This emergency-aid exception “does not depend on the 

officers’ subjective intent;” rather, it requires “an ob-

jectively reasonable basis for believing that a person 

within the house is in need of immediate aid.” Michi-

gan v. Fisher, 558 U.S. 45, 47 (2009). The Fifth Circuit 

has “declined to apply the emergency[-]aid exception 

absent strong evidence of an emergency at the scene 

or an imminent need for medical attention.” Linicomn 

v. Hill, 902 F.3d 529, 536 (5th Cir. 2018). But the ex-

istence of an emergency does not end the inquiry, for 

“[i]n addition to determining whether there was an ob-

jectively reasonable basis for identifying an 

emergency, courts must decide whether the officer 

who engaged in conduct without a warrant acted rea-

sonably.” Toussaint, 838 F.3d at 509. 
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73. It is evident from Deputy Gallardo’s state-

ment and conduct that there was not an objectively 

reasonable basis for Deputy Gallardo to identify an 

emergency, and he did not act reasonably in opening 

the front door of the Winder home. 

74. Deputy Gallardo stated that Dispatch told 

him that “it was unknown if the male was trying to 

hurt himself” and “that the Reporting Person was not 

there so that person didn’t know whether he was try-

ing to hurt himself.” Therefore, the dispatch call did 

not give Deputy Gallardo an objectively reasonable 

basis to identify an emergency. And when Deputy Gal-

lardo arrived at the Winder property, he did not 

display any urgency that would objectively permit a 

reasonable inference that he believed an emergency 

was ongoing. After exiting his patrol vehicle, he casu-

ally walked first to the Winder home and then to Lou 

Anne’s home. When he encountered Breanna at Lou 

Anne’s home, he did not express any urgency to her. 

And when he walked behind Breanna to the Winder 

home with Vickie behind him, he casually walked and 

engaged in small talk with Vickie. 

75. Furthermore, Breanna’s and Vickie’s con-

duct when Deputy Gallardo encountered them 

negated an objectively reasonable basis for him to 

identify an emergency. They both were close relatives 

of Steve who lived just across the road from him, both 

were next door at Lou Anne’s home, and both were 

generally aware of what was going on with Steve that 

evening. In their interactions with Deputy Gallardo, 

neither of them expressed any concern to Deputy Gal-

lardo or displayed a sense that an emergency was 

occurring. To the contrary, they were both calm and 

ordinary.  
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76. Finally, when Deputy Gallardo and Breanna 

were on the Winders’ front porch and Breanna, a close 

relative and neighbor, refused to open the front door 

at Deputy Gallardo’s request, she demonstrated to 

Deputy Gallardo that it was objectively unreasonable 

for him to open the door. Exigent circumstances were 

not present to justify Deputy Gallardo’s warrantless 

entry. See, e.g., Estate of Vargas v. Cty. of Hudson, No. 

14-1048, 2020 WL 3481774 (D. N.J. June 26, 2020) 

(denying summary judgment in case of warrantless 

entry and officer shooting of mentally ill man in his 

home because fact issues existed on exigent circum-

stances); Fairclough v. Joyce, No. CIV. 11-6222 FSH, 

2015 WL 733388, at *1 n.3 (D.N.J. Feb. 20, 2015) 

(denying summary judgment in case of warrantless 

entry and arrest of armed, intoxicated, and suicidal 

man in his home because fact issues existed on exigent 

circumstances). 

77. Because Deputy Gallardo violated Steve’s 

Fourth Amendment right with his unjustified war-

rantless entry and because that right was clearly 

established as of June 27, 2021, Deputy Gallardo is 

not entitled to qualified immunity. 

78. Deputy Gallardo’s warrantless entry into the 

Winder home in violation of the Fourth Amendment 

was a proximate cause of his fatally shooting Steve 

and of Plaintiffs’ injuries and damages. But for Dep-

uty Gallardo’s warrantless entry into the Winder 

home in violation of the Fourth Amendment, he would 

not have fatally shot Steve. Deputy Gallardo’s war-

rantless entry in violation of the Fourth Amendment 

was a substantial factor in bringing about Steve’s 

death and was a cause-in-fact of Steve’s death and of 

Plaintiffs’ injuries and damages. Mendez v. County of 
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Los Angeles, 897 F.3d 1067, 1074-1076 (9th Cir. 2018), 

cert. denied, 139 S.Ct. 1292 (2019). 

79. It was reasonably foreseeable that Deputy 

Gallardo’s warrantless entry would lead to his fatally 

shooting Steve and to Plaintiffs’ injuries and dam-

ages. 

[A]s a general matter, the risk of injury posed 

by the entry of an armed stranger into a resi-

dence is one of the reasons the Fourth 

Amendment prohibits entry except under de-

fined specific conditions. There is historical 

evidence suggesting that the point of the 

Fourth Amendment’s prohibition against tres-

pass into homes was in part to prevent damage 

done by the trespassers. 

… 

[U]nlawful entry invites violence. 

… 

Important social interests are served by 

minimizing interactions between armed police 

officers on high alert and innocent persons in 

their homes, precisely because such interac-

tions can foreseeably lead to tragic incidents 

where innocent people are injured or killed due 

to a splitsecond misunderstanding. One way 

the Constitution serves these interests is by 

adopting a rule that restricts officer entry into 

a residence except in certain limited circum-

stances. And it is obviously foreseeable that 

fewer tragic incidents … would occur under an 

enforced regime where officers will not enter 

homes without sufficient justification, as com-

pared to one where officers enter without 
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adequate justification. Especially where offic-

ers are armed and on alert, violent 

confrontations are foreseeable consequences of 

unlawful entries. 

Id. at 1077-1078. 

COUNT 2 

SECTION 1983 CLAIM FOR 

UNCONSTITUTIONAL SEIZURE AND 

EXCESSIVE FORCE 

80. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above 

allegations. 

81. The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreason-

able seizures. U.S. CONST. amend. IV. A police officer’s 

shooting a person is a seizure under the Fourth 

Amendment. Torres v. Madrid, 141 S. Ct. 989, 999 

(2021). Deadly force violates the Fourth Amendment 

unless “the officer has probable cause to believe the 

suspect poses a threat of serious physical harm, either 

to the officer or to others.” Tennessee v. Garner, 471 

U.S. 1, 11 (1985). Shooting an unarmed, non-threat-

ening person violates the Fourth Amendment. See, 

e.g., id. at 10–11; Darden v. City of Fort Worth, 880 

F.3d 722, 731 (5th Cir. 2018). 

82. To establish an excessive-force claim, a 

plaintiff must show that (1) he was seized, and (2) he 

suffered an injury (3) resulting directly and only from 

a use of force that was both excessive to the need and 

(4) objectively unreasonable. Carroll v. Ellington, 800 

F.3d 154, 173 (5th Cir. 2015). Fourth Amendment ex-

cessive-force claims are analyzed under a 

reasonableness standard. Graham v. Connor, 490 

U.S. 386, 388 (1989). 
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83. The “reasonableness” inquiry is objective: 

“the question is whether the officers’ actions are ‘ob-

jectively reasonable’ in light of the facts and 

circumstances confronting them, without regard to 

their underlying intent or motivation.” Id. at 397. 

“The ‘reasonableness’ of a particular use of force must 

be judged from the perspective of a reasonable officer 

on the scene, rather than with the 20/20 vision of hind-

sight.” Id. at 396. “[T]he reasonableness of an officer’s 

conduct under the Fourth Amendment is often a ques-

tion that requires the input of a jury. This is not only 

because the jury must resolve disputed fact issues but 

also because the use of juries in such cases strength-

ens our understanding of Fourth Amendment 

reasonableness.” Lytle v. Bexar Cty., Tex., 560 F.3d 

404, 411 (5th Cir. 2009). 

84. The standard and factors for determining 

whether the use of force is objectively unreasonable 

are well established: it is a fact-sensitive inquiry that 

turns on the totality of the circumstances, “including 

the severity of the crime at issue, whether the suspect 

poses an immediate threat to the safety of the officers 

or others, and whether he is actively resisting arrest 

or attempting to evade arrest by flight.” Graham, 490 

U.S. at 396. In cases where the person is not being 

placed under arrest, the only applicable factor is 

whether the person “ ‘posed an immediate threat to 

the safety of the officers or others.’ ” Harris v. Serpas, 

745 F.3d 767, 772 (5th Cir. 2014) (quoting Graham, 

490 U.S. at 396); see Robertson v. City of Bastrop, No. 

A-14-CV0839-SS, 2015 WL 6686473, at *5 (W.D. Tex. 

Oct. 29, 2015). In this case, Deputy Gallardo asserted 

in his written statement that he was going to take 

Steve into custody; therefore, the exception in Harris 

is inapplicable. 
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85. Additional considerations that “may bear on 

the reasonableness or unreasonableness of the force 

used [include]: the relationship between the need for 

the use of force and the amount of force used; the ex-

tent of the plaintiff’s injury; any effort made by the 

officer to temper or to limit the amount of force; the 

severity of the security problem at issue; the threat 

reasonably perceived by the officer; and whether the 

plaintiff was actively resisting.” Kingsley v. Hendrick-

son, 576 U.S. 389, 397 (2015). 

86. In deadly force cases, the Fifth Circuit has 

narrowed the excessive force inquiry to “whether the 

[officer] was in danger at the moment of the threat 

that resulted in the [officer’s] shooting.” Bazan v. Hi-

dalgo Cty., 246 F.3d 481, 493 (5th Cir. 2001). 

Therefore, courts “need not look at any other moment 

in time.” Rockwell v. Brown, 664 F.3d 985, 993 (5th 

Cir. 2011).1 

 
1 Plaintiffs contend that the Fifth Circuit’s narrow approach con-

flicts with the Supreme Court’s totality-of-the-circumstances 

standard for the reasonableness of force in Graham. In Cty. of 

Los Angeles, Cal. v. Mendez, 581 U.S. 420 (2017), the Court 

plainly stated: “The operative question in excessive force cases is 

‘whether the totality of the circumstances justifie[s] a particular 

sort of search or seizure.’ ” Id. at 427-28 (quoting Garner, 471 

U.S. at 8–9). “Graham commands that an officer’s use of force be 

assessed for reasonableness under the ‘totality of the circum-

stances.’ ” Id. at 428, n.* (quoting Graham, 490 U.S. at 396). The 

Supreme Court recently confirmed that, “[i]n assessing a claim 

of excessive force, courts ask whether the officers’ actions are ob-

jectively reasonable in light of the facts and circumstances 

confronting them.” Lombardo v. City of St. Louis, Mo., 141 S. Ct. 

2239, 2241 (2021) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting Gra-

ham, 490 U.S. at 397). “[T]he inquiry ‘requires careful attention 

to the facts and circumstances of each particular case.’ ” Id. (quot-

ing Graham, 490 U.S. at 396). 
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87. After Deputy Gallardo’s unconstitutional en-

try into the Winder home, he shot Steve in the upper 

right chest. The bullet’s path was “in a front-to-back 

direction, medially and downwards.” The bullet perfo-

rated Steve’s heart and the lower lobe of his right 

lung. The bullet entered Steve’s chest cavity through 

 
Although the Supreme Court invalidated the Ninth Circuit’s 

provocation doctrine in Mendez, 581 U.S. at 428-31, it intention-

ally did not address whether the totality of the circumstances 

includes “taking into account unreasonable police conduct prior 

to the use of force that foreseeably created the need to use it.” Id. 

Therefore, the Supreme Court has not passed on the Fifth Cir-

cuit’s narrow approach. The Fifth Circuit appears to have 

sidestepped deciding whether its narrow approach is incompati-

ble with Supreme Court case law on the totality of circumstances. 

See Hale v. City of Biloxi, Miss., 731 F. App’x 259, 263–64 (5th 

Cir. 2018) (on plaintiff’s contention that court “must look to the 

totality of circumstances and not just at his decision to put his 

hands in his pocket,” which is when officer then shot him, holding 

that plaintiff’s claim would also fail under the totality-of-the-cir-

cumstances standard). 

Additionally, it has been noted that the Fifth Circuit’s narrow 

approach conflicts with the law in other circuits. See Barnes v. 

Felix, 532 F. Supp. 3d 463, 468–69 (S.D. Tex. 2021), dism’d, 2021 

WL 4722005 (5th Cir. July 20, 2021) (“To be sure, this [narrow] 

approach is not unform among the circuit courts of appeals. The 

Seventh, Six, and Tenth Circuits have adopted a more nuanced 

framework when the officer’s own conduct exacerbates the exces-

siveness of the deadly force used.”) (citing Estate of Starks v. 

Enyart, 5 F.3d 230, 234 (7th Cir. 1993) (“If a fleeing felon is con-

verted to a ‘threatening’ fleeing felon solely based on the actions 

of a police officer, the police should not increase the degree of 

intrusiveness.); Kirby v. Duva, 530 F.3d 475, 482 (6th Cir. 2008) 

(“Where a police officer unreasonably places himself in harm’s 

way, his use of deadly force may be deemed excessive.”); Fogarty 

v. Gallegos, 523 F.3d 1147, 1159–60 (10th Cir. 2008) (“We also 

consider whether an officer’s own ‘reckless or deliberate conduct’ 

in connection with the arrest contributed to the need to use the 

force employed.”)). 
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the third right anterior intercostal space and exited 

the chest cavity through the seventh right posterior 

intercostal space, lodging in the soft tissues of the 

right mid-back. The below image from Steve’s autopsy 

report shows the bullet’s entry wound in Steve’s upper 

right chest: 

 

88. After Deputy Gallardo shot Steve, Lou Anne 

glanced at Steve and saw him turn around and go 

down to the bedroom floor on his hands and knees fac-

ing the nightstand to the left of the bed. Lou Anne did 

not see Steve’s gun near him. In his statement, Dep-

uty Gallardo stated that, after firing one shot at Steve, 

“Steve fell backwards onto the floor into the bedroom, 

out of my sight.” 

89. Very distraught and upset with Deputy Gal-

lardo after he shot Steve, Lou Anne argued with him 

that he was out of control and looked at Steve again 

in the bedroom. She then turned around and yelled to 

E.W., who was in her bedroom, that her dad had been 

shot. Lou Anne then stepped toward Steve’s bedroom 

to check on him, but Deputy Gallardo, now pointing 

his gun at her, ordered her to get back. Lou Anne 
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backed away and, pointing to the bedroom, said, “He 

does not have a gun in his hand.” After the shooting, 

Lou Anne did not see Steve holding the gun, moving 

toward the bed with the gun, or tossing the gun on the 

bed. 

90. Lou Anne never saw Steve point his gun at 

Deputy Gallardo, but she initially believed that Steve 

was holding his gun in the bedroom doorway. Unlike 

Deputy Gallardo, Lou Anne did not get to consult with 

a lawyer and view the body cam video footage before 

being questioned about the shooting. 

91. Lou Anne initially believed that Steve was 

holding his gun in the bedroom doorway because she 

had looked at him while he was walking from his chair 

toward the doorway with it, she did not see him put it 

down, and he was holding the gun the last time she 

saw him before he was shot, which was as he was 

rounding the far corner of the bed when she said to 

him, “Steve, put it up.” She also heard Deputy Gal-

lardo twice say, “He’s got a gun.” Therefore, Lou Anne 

assumed that Steve was holding his gun when he 

stood in the bedroom doorway. But based on infor-

mation that she later learned from carefully reviewing 

Deputy Gallardo’s and Deputy Dwyer’s body cam vid-

eos—specifically, the location of Steve’s gun after the 

shooting—and realizing that, after saying, “Steve, put 

it up,” her focus was solely on Deputy Gallardo, Lou 

Anne believes that Steve put his gun on the bed when 

she told him to “put it up” and that he was neither 

holding the gun in the bedroom doorway nor pointing 

it at Deputy Gallardo when he was shot. 

92. Steve’s bedroom’s dimensions are approxi-

mately fifteen feet by fourteen feet, and the interior 

width of the bedroom door frame is approximately 
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twenty-nine and one-half inches. The diagonal length 

of the bedroom’s opposite corners is approximately 

twenty and one-half feet. The bed’s mattress is king 

size, measuring approximately seventy-six inches by 

eighty inches. 

93. The following two post-shooting images from 

Deputy Dwyer’s body cam show where Steve’s gun, a 

Para 45-caliber pistol, was located once the officers en-

tered his bedroom and until Deputy Gallardo picked 

it up to unload it and then take it outside. 
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94. In these images, Steve’s gun is lined up just 

next to two cell phones on the bed and next to his 

chair. The gun appears as if it had been carefully set 

down next to the two cell phones. A third cell phone is 

on a notebook much closer to the foot of the bed. 

95. The below image depicts all three cell 

phones. Those three cell phones are believed to be Lou 

Anne’s phone, Steve’s phone that he had dropped in 

the pool, and Latrisha’s old phone that Steve had 

started using that afternoon. The gun is apparent in 

this image. Steve’s gun, a Para 1911 45-caliber pistol, 

weighs over three pounds fully loaded. 

 

96. The following lay floor plan (with the in-

serted furniture not being to scale) depicts Steve’s 

location when he was shot and the gun’s location after 

the shooting, as shown by the officers’ body cams. 
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97. When Steve was shot, he was approximately 

thirteen feet from where his gun was located after the 

shooting. According to both Lou Anne and Deputy 

Gallardo, after being shot, Steve went down to the 

floor. If Steve was holding his gun or pointing his gun 

at Deputy Gallardo when Deputy Gallardo shot 

Steve—a fact that Plaintiffs dispute—there is the crit-

ical question of how Steve’s gun got on the bed 

thirteen feet away and lined up next to the cell 

phones. 

98. If Steve was holding his gun when he was 

shot, there appears to be three possibilities for how his 

gun got on the bed approximately thirteen feet away 

from him. First, admittedly it is possible that he could 

have flung it onto the bed right after he was shot and 

as he was going down onto the floor. This possibility 
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is highly improbable. Because Steve had just been 

shot through the heart and lung and was very intoxi-

cated (with a blood-alcohol level of 0.173, just over 

twice the legal limit), it is almost unimaginable that 

Steve would have had the mental and physical ability 

or wherewithal to throw his gun approximately thir-

teen feet onto the bed and have it land perfectly next 

to the lined-up cell phones as if it had been carefully 

placed next to them. And the fact that Lou Anne did 

not see Steve throw his gun after being shot makes 

this possibility even more improbable. 

99. The second possibility—that, after going to 

the floor, Steve got up on his knees or feet and tossed 

his gun onto the bed from a similar distance of approx-

imately eight to ten feet—is also highly improbable for 

the same reasons as the first possibility. 

100. The third possibility is that, after going to 

the floor with his gun, Steve stood up with his gun, 

walked around the bed to the opposite corner of the 

bedroom holding his gun, and sat his gun on the bed 

next to the two cell phones in an apparently careful 

manner. Again, after Steve was shot, Lou Anne did 

not see Steve get up or holding his gun. And given 

Steve’s severe injuries and intoxication, it is ex-

tremely improbable that he would have had the 

mental and physical ability or wherewithal to get on 

his feet and walk around the bed to carefully place the 

gun on the bed lined up next to the cell phones. Also, 

if Steve had done that, he likely would have either 

then sat in his chair or gone back down to the floor on 

that side of the bed, but he did neither.  

101. The Texas Rangers of the Texas Department 

of Public Safety investigated Deputy Gallardo’s shoot-

ing and killing Steve. Jacob Weaver, a Texas Ranger 
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investigator out of Wichita Falls, met with and inves-

tigated Deputy Gallardo at the Olney hospital, where 

Deputy Gallardo was suspiciously taken by ambu-

lance after the shooting. Deputy Gallardo refused to 

talk to Ranger Weaver about the shooting without his 

lawyer present. Eighteen days later, Deputy Gallardo 

provided Ranger Weaver with Deputy Gallardo’s writ-

ten statement, which was obviously drafted by a 

lawyer and not by a rookie twenty-three-year-old 

sheriff’s deputy. 

102. Ranger Weaver’s investigative report did not 

determine whether Deputy Gallardo’s shooting and 

killing Steve was justified, nor did it determine 

whether Steve was holding a gun or pointing a gun at 

Deputy Gallardo when Steve was shot. The Texas 

Rangers’ analysis of enhanced video from Deputy Gal-

lardo’s body cam alleges that an apparent black object 

was allegedly being held by Steve, but the “object was 

not clearly visible to enable positive identification” of 

it. 

103. Furthermore, Steve’s gun has been forensi-

cally tested by an expert forensic scientist for the 

presence of blood, and there is no blood on the gun. If 

Steve had been holding the gun when and after he was 

shot, including when he somehow would have been 

placing it on the bed after being shot in the heart, it is 

highly likely that his blood would be on the gun. The 

fact that there is no blood on Steve’s gun makes it even 

more improbable that he was holding the gun when 

he was shot. 

104. Based on Steve’s location when he was shot, 

Lou Anne’s observations of Steve after he was shot, 

the location of his gun after he was shot, and the fact 

that there is no blood on the gun, it is implausible that 
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Steve was holding his gun when Deputy Gallardo shot 

him. What is plausible and likely is that Steve put his 

gun down on the bed when Lou Anne told him to “put 

it up” and that Deputy Gallardo, who was an inexpe-

rienced twenty-three-year-old rookie sheriff’s deputy 

with poor judgment in his law-enforcement work his-

tory and who had been told by Dispatch and then by 

Lou Anne that Steve had a gun, was unreasonably 

and fatally mistaken in thinking that Steve was hold-

ing a gun and pointing it at him when he shot Steve. 

See Waller, 922 F.3d at 599 (holding plaintiffs plausi-

bly alleged victim was unarmed and denying motion 

for judgment on the pleadings on qualified immunity). 

105. Plaintiffs therefore contend that Steve was 

unarmed when Deputy Gallardo shot him and that 

Deputy Gallardo’s actions were objectively unreason-

able.2 Shooting an unarmed, non-threatening person 

violates the Fourth Amendment. Garner, 471 U.S. at 

10–11; Darden, 880 F.3d at 731. Deputy Gallardo vio-

lated Steve’s Fourth Amendment right by using 

excessive force, and this violation of Steve’s Fourth 

Amendment right caused Steve’s death and Plaintiffs’ 

injuries and damages. 

COUNT 3 

SECTION 1983 SUPERVISORY LIABILITY 

106. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above 

allegations.  

 
2 Alternatively, a fact issue exists on the reasonableness of 

Deputy Gallardo’s actions, and therefore qualified immunity is 

not available. See Cole v. Carson, 935 F.3d 444, 455–56 (5th Cir. 

2019) (en banc) (“[I]f an excessive force claim turns on which of 

two conflicting stories best captures what happened on the 

street,” the caselaw “will not permit summary judgment in favor 

of the defendant official. ... [A] trial must be had.”). 
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107. Defendant Travis Babcock received his basic 

peace officer’s license in November 2012 and his inter-

mediate peace officer’s certificate in November 2014. 

He became the Young County Sheriff on October 31, 

2016. 

108. In Texas, a county sheriff is the elected and 

top law enforcement officer in the county. With that 

power and authority comes great responsibility. 

It has long been recognized that, in Texas, the 

county sheriff is the county’s final policymaker 

in the area of law enforcement, not by virtue of 

delegation by the county’s governing body but, 

rather, by virtue of the office to which the sher-

iff has been elected: 

Because of the unique structure of county 

government in Texas ... elected county offi-

cials, such as the sheriff ... hold[ ] virtually 

absolute sway over the particular tasks or 

areas of responsibility entrusted to him by 

state statute and is accountable to no one 

other than the voters for his conduct 

therein ... . 

Familias Unidas v. Briscoe, 619 F.2d 391, 404 

(5th Cir. 1980) (quoting Monell, 436 U.S. at 

694). 

Turner v. Upton Cty., Tex., 915 F.2d 133, 136 (5th Cir. 

1990) (internal citations altered). 

109. Sheriff Babcock utterly failed in his respon-

sibilities for training and supervising rookie Deputy 

Gallardo.3 No supervisor was on duty to direct Deputy 

 
3 As mentioned, the Young County Sheriff’s Office refused to 

provide Plaintiffs’ counsel with its policies, procedures, practices, 

and training records pertaining to approaching and conducting a 
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Gallardo on his way to the Winder property or to di-

rect him at the scene—Latrisha’s call to the Young 

County Sheriff’s Office does not reflect the involve-

ment of a supervisory officer such as a sergeant or 

Sheriff Babcock, and Deputy Gallardo’s body cam au-

dio reflects no communications with a supervisory 

officer. The absence of a supervisor on duty to direct 

Deputy Gallardo while on his way to a call for an 

armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally ill, and sui-

cidal man in his home and then to direct Deputy 

Gallardo at the scene, and Deputy Gallardo’s conduct 

at the scene, evidence or give rise to a plausible infer-

ence of Sheriff Babcock’s deliberate indifference to the 

obvious risk of harm in a law-enforcement confronta-

tion with an armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally 

ill, and suicidal man in his home. Sheriff Babcock’s 

deliberate indifference is even more pronounced given 

Young County’s small population and his small dep-

uty force, which allowed Sheriff Babcock a greater 

opportunity to adequately train and properly super-

vise a rookie deputy. See Brown v. Bryan Cty., Okla., 

219 F.3d 450, 458 (5th Cir. 2000) (noting “fact that the 

sheriff’s department had relatively few officers [made] 

it highly unlikely that [new, inexperienced reserve 

deputy sheriff] was ‘lost in the crowd’ ”). Also, Sheriff 

Babcock knew or should have known from Deputy 

Gallardo’s prior work history as a Wichita County 

jailer and briefly as an Ochiltree County Sheriff’s Dep-

uty that Deputy Gallardo had a law-enforcement 

history of poor judgment and therefore needed super-

vision. And the fact that Deputy Dwyer apologized to 

Lou Anne and then to Latrisha for his not getting to 

 
welfare check on an armed, emotionally disturbed, or mentally 

ill suicidal person in his own residence. 
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the scene sooner—that is, before Deputy Gallardo con-

fronted and then shot Steve—further evidences 

Sheriff Babcock’s deliberate indifference to having 

Deputy Gallardo adequately trained and properly su-

pervised. 

110. Law enforcement has long known that non-

confrontation, de-escalation, communication, and pa-

tience are key principles in responding to a person in 

a serious mental health crisis such as an armed sui-

cidal person. A magazine article in March 2000 in 

Police Magazine states: 

The essential difference between suspect en-

counter training that officers traditionally 

receive, and how to approach the mentally ill, 

is the need to be non-confrontational. Such a re-

quirement to, in effect, shift gears is 

diametrically opposed to the way officers are 

routinely expected to control conflict. The same 

command techniques that are employed to take 

a criminal suspect into custody can only serve 

to escalate a conflict with the mentally ill into 

violence. 

111. In its January 17, 2017 policy statement 

“The National Consensus Policy on Use of Force,” the 

International Association of Chiefs of Police requires 

that deadly force “not be used against persons whose 

actions are a threat only to themselves” and that an 

officer should “use de-escalation techniques and other 

alternatives to higher levels of force.” 

112. The National Law Enforcement Policy Cen-

ter recommends that officers “first take time, if 

possible, to survey the situation in order to gather nec-

essary information and avoid hasty and potentially 

counterproductive decisions and actions.” Also, 
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officers “should avoid approaching the subject until a 

degree of rapport has been developed.” Similarly, the 

Police Executive Research Forum advises that officers 

“not rush the person or crowd his personal space. Any 

attempt to force an issue may quickly backfire in the 

form of violence.” “What works best and what is most 

beneficial is patience and communication.”  

113. The Treatment Advocacy Center is a na-

tional nonprofit organization dedicated to eliminating 

barriers to the timely and effective treatment of se-

vere mental illness, and it promotes laws, policies, and 

practices for the delivery of psychiatric care to, among 

other things, reduce the number of fatal encounters 

between police and the mentally ill. According to its 

December 2015 report “Overlooked and Under-

counted, the Role of Mental Illness in Fatal Law 

Enforcement Encounters,” a minimum of one in four 

of all fatal police encounters involves the death of a 

person with severe mental illness. At this rate, the 

risk of being killed during a police encounter is sixteen 

times greater for persons with untreated mental ill-

ness than for members of the general population. 

114. Also, courts have recognized the dangers of 

an officer’s warrantless or uninvited entry into a 

home: 

[E]ven if an officer knocks and announces his or 

her presence, or seeks consent to enter, a home-

owner may reasonably still wish that the officer 

not enter, especially in circumstances like this, 

where the officer has a weapon drawn and is on 

alert. The reason why is obvious. An innocent 

homeowner reasonably may believe that allow-

ing an agitated officer to enter the residence 

will substantially increase the risk that a 
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person, pet, or property inside might be 

harmed. Police officers rightly remind the pub-

lic that they are required to make split-second 

decisions in very difficult situations. See Ten-

nessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 19, 105 S.Ct. 1694, 

85 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985). These split-second deci-

sions cannot in every case be made reliably so 

as to avoid harm to innocents. But these imper-

fect life-or-death decisions demonstrate that 

entry by an officer, on alert, with weapon 

drawn, can foreseeably result in shooting inju-

ries where the officer mistakes an innocent 

implement for a weapon. Entry poses a foresee-

able and severe risk only partly mitigated by 

knocking and announcing. Under circum-

stances like those presented here, the safe 

course for the public and the one prescribed by 

the Fourth Amendment, is for officers to re-

main outside, unless or until they have a 

warrant or consent or exigent circumstances 

arise. 

Mendez, 897 F.3d at 1079. 

115. As of June 27, 2021, Sheriff Babcock had 

been Young County Sheriff for four years and eight 

months and had been a licensed peace officer for over 

ten and one-half years. In October 2019, he attended 

a seventeen-hour conference for training coordinators, 

and by June of 2021, he would have had his own sub-

stantial training and experience with crisis 

intervention. From his own training and experience, 

and from his own training on training coordination, 

Sheriff Babcock was aware of the above principles for 

responding to a person in a serious mental health cri-

sis such as an armed suicidal person, was aware of the 
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need to train and supervise young, inexperienced of-

ficers on these principles, and was aware of the 

obvious risk of harm in a law-enforcement confronta-

tion with an armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally 

ill, and suicidal person in his home. The obvious risk 

of harm is that the law-enforcement officer will shoot 

the armed suicidal person mistakenly, in alleged self-

defense, or as a “suicide by cop,” and all these scenar-

ios are avoidable with proper supervision and 

adequate training. 

116. Sheriff Babcock was responsible for ade-

quately staffing the Young County Sheriff’s Office 

with supervisory officers to supervise and direct dep-

uties in the field and for adequately training 

inexperienced, rookie officers like Deputy Gallardo. 

The absence of a supervisor on duty to direct rookie 

Deputy Gallardo and Deputy Gallardo’s conduct at 

the scene evidence or give rise to a plausible inference 

of Sheriff Babcock’s conscious decision to disregard 

the obvious risk of harm in a law-enforcement con-

frontation with an armed, emotionally disturbed, 

mentally ill, and suicidal man in his home like or sim-

ilar to Deputy Gallardo’s fatal confrontation with 

Steve Winder on June 27, 2021. 

117. Sheriff Babcock was deliberately indifferent 

to the obvious risk of harm to Steve that was created 

by his failure to provide for supervision of Deputy Gal-

lardo and his failure to adequately train Deputy 

Gallardo for a call involving an armed, emotionally 

disturbed, mentally ill, and suicidal man in his home 

like or similar to Deputy Gallardo’s confrontation with 

Steve, and Sheriff Babcock’s deliberate indifference 

was a direct cause of Deputy Gallardo’s fatally shoot-

ing Steve. Deputy Gallardo fatally shot Steve within 
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four minutes of arriving at the Winder property. In-

deed, when Deputy Dwyer arrived at the scene and 

quickly learned what had happened, he apologized to 

Lou Anne and then to Latrisha for not getting to the 

scene before Deputy Gallardo confronted and shot 

Steve because Deputy Dwyer immediately recognized 

Deputy Gallardo’s egregious errors in his confronta-

tion with Steve. These egregious errors were caused 

by Sheriff Babcock’s deliberate indifference to the ob-

vious risk of harm to Steve that was created by Sheriff 

Babcock’s failure to provide for supervision of Deputy 

Gallardo while he was on a call for an armed, emotion-

ally disturbed, mentally ill, and suicidal man in his 

home and his failure to adequately train Deputy Gal-

lardo for such a call. Therefore, a sufficient causal 

connection exists between Sheriff Babcock’s deliber-

ate indifference and Steve’s shooting death. 

COUNT 4 

SECTION 1983 MONELL LIABILITY 

118. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above 

allegations. 

119. The Young County Sheriff’s Office is a servi-

ent political agency of Young County. See Hicks v. 

Tarrant Cty. Sheriff’s Dep’t, 352 Fed. Appx. 876, 878 

(5th Cir. 2009). Sheriff Babcock is Young County’s fi-

nal policymaker in the area of law enforcement. See 

Brown, 219 F.3d at 453; Turner, 915 F.2d at 136. 

Because of the unique structure of county 

government in Texas ... elected county offi-

cials, such as the sheriff ... hold[ ] virtually 

absolute sway over the particular tasks or 

areas of responsibility entrusted to him by 

state statute and is accountable to no one 

other than the voters for his conduct 
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therein ... . Thus, at least in those areas in 

which he, alone, is the final authority or ul-

timate repository of county power, his 

official conduct and decisions must neces-

sarily be considered those of one “whose 

edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent 

official policy” for which the county may be 

held responsible under section 1983. 

Familias Unidas v. Briscoe, 619 F.2d 391, 404 

(5th Cir. 1980) (quoting Monell, 436 U.S. at 

694). 

Turner, 915 F.2d at 136 (internal citations altered). 

120. A local government such as a county may be 

liable under Section 1983 if it causes a constitutional 

tort through “a policy statement, ordinance, regula-

tion, or decision officially adopted and promulgated by 

that body’s officers.” Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 

U.S. 658, 690 (1978). “The [local] government as an 

entity is responsible under [Section] 1983” “when exe-

cution of a [local] government’s policy or custom, 

whether made by its lawmakers or by those whose 

edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent official 

policy, inflicts the injury. …” Monell, 436 U.S. at 694. 

121. A county can therefore be liable under Sec-

tion 1983 for a county’s policy or custom that caused 

an injury. Board of County Comm’rs v. Brown, 520 

U.S. 397, 403 (1997). The failure to train officers can 

be a custom or policy that gives rise to Section 1983 

liability. World Wide Street Preachers Fellowship v. 

Town of Columbia, 591 F.3d 747, 756 (5th Cir. 2009) 

(citing City of Canton, Ohio v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 

387 (1989)). The failure to train can amount to a policy 

if there is deliberate indifference to an obvious need 

for training where citizens are likely to lose their 
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constitutional rights on account of novices in law en-

forcement. Peterson v. City of Fort Worth, Tex., 588 

F.3d 838, 849 (5th Cir. 2009). No training and no su-

pervision constitute inadequate training policies and 

deliberate indifference to the safety of citizens. Brown, 

219 F.3d at 462. Therefore, Section 1983 liability may 

be predicated on a local government’s failure to ade-

quately train its law-enforcement officers. Harris, 489 

U.S. at 387. 

122. A plaintiff must demonstrate that (1) the lo-

cal government’s “training policy procedures were 

inadequate, (2) [the government] was deliberately in-

different in adopting its training policy, and (3) the 

inadequate training policy directly caused” the plain-

tiff's injury. Sanders-Burns v. City of Plano, 594 F.3d 

366, 381 (5th Cir. 2010). A plaintiff may allege delib-

erate indifference based on a single incident but “must 

prove that the highly predictable consequence of a 

failure to train would result in the specific injury suf-

fered, and that the failure to train represented the 

moving force behind the constitutional violation.” Id. 

123. A plaintiff proves that deliberate indiffer-

ence caused the injury by showing that the highly 

predictable consequence would have been avoided had 

the responding officer been properly supervised or ad-

equately trained and by comparing what actually 

occurred in the plaintiff’s case with how a hypothetical 

well-trained officer would have acted. Harris, 489 U.S. 

at 392. A “high degree of predictability may also sup-

port an inference of causation—that the [county’s] 

indifference led directly to the very consequence that 

was so predictable.” Brown, 520 U.S. at 409-10. 

124. Young County, through the Young County 

Sheriff’s Office, lacked a policy for supervision of 
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twenty-three-year-old Deputy Gallardo, an inexperi-

enced, novice deputy sheriff responding to a call 

involving an armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally 

ill, and suicidal man in his home—Steve Winder. Also, 

Sheriff Babcock knew or should have known from 

Deputy Gallardo’s prior work history as a Wichita 

County jailer and briefly as an Ochiltree County Sher-

iff’s Deputy that Deputy Gallardo had a law-

enforcement history of poor judgment and therefore 

needed supervision. No supervisor was on duty to di-

rect Deputy Gallardo on his way to the Winder 

property or to direct him at the scene—Latrisha’s call 

to the Young County Sheriff’s Office does not reflect 

the involvement of a supervisory officer such as a ser-

geant or Sheriff Babcock, and Deputy Gallardo’s body 

cam audio reflects no communications with a supervi-

sory officer. See, e.g., Brown, 219 F.3d at 465 

(observing there was no supervisory communication 

or coordination with inexperienced reserve deputy 

sheriff during entire incident because of county policy 

of no supervision); cf. Waller v. City of Danville, Va., 

556 F.3d 171, 172-73 (4th Cir. 2009) (in responding to 

call to home of man with known mental-illness history 

possibly having a weapon and preventing live-in girl-

friend from coming to door to confirm her safety to 

three responding officers, they contacted supervisor, 

who came to scene, supervisor returned to headquar-

ters to confer with shift commander and then his 

direct superior, who referred supervisor to call hos-

tage negotiator). 

125. Almost everything that unsupervised Dep-

uty Gallardo did at the scene was contrary to well-

established practices and principles for such a call, as 

described in Count 3. See, e.g., Brown, 219 F.3d at 463-

64 (discussing evidence regarding how much of 
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inexperienced reserve deputy sheriff’s conduct “was 

contrary to professional standards” and that officer 

“violated basic standard of police conduct”). It should 

have been obvious to Sheriff Babcock—and he must 

have been aware—that the highly predictable conse-

quence of not having a policy for the supervision of 

Deputy Gallardo during his response to a call involv-

ing an armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally ill, and 

suicidal man in his home was that it would likely lead 

to a violation of Fourth Amendment rights such as 

Deputy Gallardo’s warrantless entry into the Winder 

home and his fatally shooting Steve, which were 

avoidable with proper supervision. 

126. Deputy Dwyer’s apologies to Lou Anne and 

then to Latrisha for not getting to the scene before 

Deputy Gallardo confronted and shot Steve also evi-

dence the highly predictable consequence of not 

having a policy for the supervision of Deputy Gal-

lardo. Deputy Dwyer immediately recognized that 

unsupervised Deputy Gallardo’s egregious errors in 

his confrontation with Steve directly led to Steve’s 

shooting death. 

127. Therefore, not having a policy for the super-

vision of Deputy Gallardo constitutes deliberate 

indifference to Steve’s Fourth Amendment rights, and 

this deliberate indifference was the “moving force” 

that directly caused Plaintiffs’ injuries. See, e.g., 

Brown, 219 F.3d at 462-65 (holding that county’s no-

supervision policy for inexperienced, rookie reserve 

deputy sheriff constituted deliberate indifference and 

was cause of plaintiff’s injuries). 

128. Additionally, Young County, through the 

Young County Sheriff’s Office, lacked adequate train-

ing policies for its novice sheriff’s deputy, twenty-
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three-yearold Sheriff’s Deputy Gallardo. Sheriff Bab-

cock knew or should have known from Deputy 

Gallardo’s prior law-enforcement work history that 

Deputy Gallardo had a history of poor judgment and 

that the Young County Sheriff’s Office therefore 

needed adequate training policies for Deputy Gal-

lardo. Specifically, the Young County Sheriff’s Office 

had no policies or had inadequate policies for rookie 

Sheriff’s Deputy Gallardo for: 

• Responding to an armed emotionally dis-

turbed, mentally ill, and suicidal person in his 

home, including crisis intervention techniques 

of communication with the person, non-con-

frontation, de-escalation, having back-up 

present, and avoidance of unreasonably creat-

ing situations where resort to deadly force is 

necessary. 

• Warrantless or uninvited entry into the home 

of an armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally 

ill, and suicidal person.  

129. Steve had a history of mental illness and a 

previous suicide attempt, he was emotionally dis-

turbed over the situation with Latrisha, he was 

armed, and he was very intoxicated, a fact that Dep-

uty would have learned if he had communicated with 

Steve, Latrisha, or Lou Anne by phone before encoun-

tering Steve. Creating a recipe for the fatal tragedy 

that unfolded, within four minutes of his arrival on 

the Winder property and without waiting for Deputy 

Dwyer to arrive, Deputy Gallardo recklessly entered 

Steve’s home without a warrant or invitation to enter, 

confronted Steve, and fatally shot him. 

130. Deputy Gallardo’s conduct at the scene evi-

dences or gives rise to a plausible inference that the 
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Young County Sheriff’s Office training policies for 

twenty-three-year-old rookie Sheriff’s Deputy Gal-

lardo to handle a call to the home of an armed, 

emotionally disturbed, mentally ill, and suicidal man 

like Steve Winder were either lacking or inadequate 

because almost everything he did at the scene was 

contrary to well-established law-enforcement prac-

tices and principles for handling such a call. 

131. Deputy Gallardo should have been trained to 

first try to communicate with Steve by phone to obtain 

an understanding of Steve’s state of mind and what 

was happening inside the home and to develop a de-

gree of rapport with Steve. Latrisha had given Steve’s 

cell phone number to dispatch, who should have ad-

vised Deputy Gallardo of that fact, but Deputy 

Gallardo still should have been trained to request 

Steve’s phone number and also Latrisha’s and Lou 

Anne’s numbers in case he could not reach Steve. Dep-

uty Gallardo also could have asked Breanna or Vickie 

for Steve’s phone number, or he could have asked one 

of them to call Steve for him. Instead, Deputy Gal-

lardo recklessly proceeded to confront Steve directly 

and fatally with hardly any understanding of what 

was going on inside the home. 

132. It should have been obvious to Sheriff Bab-

cock—and he must have been aware—that the highly 

predictable consequence of not having adequate train-

ing policies for Deputy Gallardo, a novice twenty-

three-year-old officer, during his response to a call in-

volving an armed, emotionally disturbed, mentally ill, 

and suicidal man in his home was that it would likely 

lead to a violation of Fourth Amendment rights such 

as Deputy Gallardo’s warrantless entry into the 

Winder home and his fatally shooting Steve, which 



89a 

 

 

were avoidable with adequate training policies. See, 

e.g., Brown, 219 F.3d at 459-61 (discussing obvious-

ness of county’s inadequate training of inexperienced, 

rookie reserve deputy sheriff likely leading to Fourth 

Amendment violation causing injury). 

133. Therefore, not having adequate training pol-

icies for Deputy Gallardo on responding to an armed, 

emotionally disturbed, mentally ill, and suicidal per-

son in his home constitutes deliberate indifference to 

Steve’s Fourth Amendment rights, and this deliberate 

indifference was the “moving force” that directly 

caused Plaintiffs’ injuries. See, e.g., Brown, 219 F.3d 

at 462-465 (holding that county’s inadequate training 

of inexperienced, rookie reserve deputy sheriff consti-

tuted deliberate indifference and was cause of 

plaintiff’s injuries); Sanchez v. Gomez, 283 F. Supp. 3d 

524, 539-41 (W.D. Tex. 2017) (finding that parents of 

decedent killed by city’s police officers stated claim 

that police chief’s deliberate indifference to adopting 

procedures to implement communication and de-esca-

lation tactics in situations involving persons suffering 

from mental health issues was moving force in alleged 

constitutional violation); see also McHenry v. City of 

Ottawa, Ks., No. 16-2736-DDC-JPO, 2017 WL 

4269903, at *10-11 (D. Kan. Sept. 26, 2017) (plaintiffs 

adequately alleged deliberate indifference and causa-

tion on city’s choice to not have training policies for 

officers to deal with mentally ill and suicidal persons); 

Estate of Jones v. City of Spokane, No. 2:16-CV-00325-

JLQ, 2017 WL 438746, at *3 (E.D. Wash. Feb. 1, 2017) 

(finding sufficient plaintiffs’ Monell allegations that 

city’s inadequate policies for deescalation and interac-

tion with the mentally ill caused decedent’s fatal 

shooting); Tenorio v. Pitzer, No. CV 12-01295 

MCA/KBM, 2017 WL 4271331, at *4 (D. N.M. Sept. 
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25, 2017) (concluding that plaintiff’s summary judg-

ment evidence raised fact issue on causation on city’s 

deficient training policies on de-escalation and use of 

deadly force for people in emotional crisis where men-

tally ill, intoxicated, and suicidal man with a knife 

was shot by police). 

COUNT 5 

ADA VIOLATIONS 

134. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the above 

allegations. 

135. Congress enacted the Americans With Disa-

bilities Act (ADA) “to provide a clear and 

comprehensive national mandate for the elimination 

of discrimination against individuals with disabili-

ties.” 42 U.S.C. § 12101(b)(1). Title II of the ADA 

provides that “no qualified individual with a disability 

shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from 

participation in or be denied the benefits of the ser-

vices, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be 

subjected to discrimination by any such entity.” 42 

U.S.C. § 12132. Public entities include “[a]ny State or 

local government” and “[a]ny department, agency, 

special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a 

State or States or local government.” 42 U.S.C. 

§ 12131(1).  

136. To state a prima facie claim for discrimina-

tion under the ADA, a plaintiff must show: (1) he is a 

qualified individual within the meaning of the ADA; 

(2) he is being excluded from participation in, or being 

denied benefits of, services, programs, or activities for 

which the public entity is responsible, or is otherwise 

being discriminated against by the public entity; and 

(3) such exclusion, denial of benefits, or discrimination 

is by reason of his disability. Melton v. Dallas Area 
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Rapid Transit, 391 F.3d 669, 671–72 (5th Cir. 2004). 

“Discrimination” under the ADA includes “not making 

reasonable accommodations to the known physical or 

mental limitations of an otherwise qualified individ-

ual with a disability....” Id. § 12112(b)(5)(A). 

137. Under the ADA, “disability” is defined as “a 

physical or mental impairment that substantially lim-

its one or more major life activities of an individual.” 

42 U.S.C. § 12102(1). Major depression is a mental im-

pairment under the ADA, according to the EEOC 

Enforcement Guidelines in U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 

OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION, Enforcement Guidance on 

the ADA and Psychiatric Disabilities, EEOC Notice 

No. 915.002 (Mar. 25, 1997). 

138. Steve Winder had major depression. In her 

call to the Young County Sheriff’s Office, Latrisha told 

the dispatch operator that Steve had sent her photos 

with a gun to his head, that he said could not bear this 

anymore, that he had a history of depression and was 

on Prozac, and that around eleven years ago during 

his first marriage, he threatened suicide and was in a 

mental hospital for three days. 

139. Because major depression is a disability un-

der the ADA, Young County therefore knew from 

Latrisha’s call that Steve had a disability. Also, in his 

written statement, Deputy Gallardo stated, “Based 

upon the information I possessed[,] I believed that the 

person [Steve] had a mental illness.” Deputy Gallardo 

planned “to take the suicidal person identified as 

Steve into custody without a warrant.” Deputy Gal-

lardo therefore knew that Steve had a disability. 

Despite this knowledge, in handling Latrisha’s call 

and responding to Steve, Young County discriminated 

against Steve in two respects. 
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140. First, Young County, through the Young 

County Sheriff’s Office, discriminated against Steve 

by treating him like a criminal suspect, rather than 

like a person with a disability, as evidenced by Deputy 

Gallardo’s conduct at the scene and by fatally shooting 

Steve. 

141. Second, Young County failed to reasonably 

accommodate Steve’s disability by: 

• Failing and refusing to adopt a policy protect-

ing the welfare of Steve, a person with a 

mental illness disability in a mental health cri-

sis, therefore resulting in discriminatory 

treatment by Deputy Gallardo. 

• Failing and refusing to adopt a policy for re-

sponding to threatened suicide calls with well-

established crisis intervention techniques, in-

cluding responding with a mental health 

professional, therefore resulting in discrimina-

tory treatment by Deputy Gallardo. 

142. Young County’s discrimination of Steve’s 

disability caused his fatal shooting and Plaintiffs’ in-

juries and damages. 

143. The exigent circumstances exception to the 

application of the ADA recognized in Hainze v. Rich-

ards, 207 F.3d 795, 801-02 (5th Cir. 2000) does not 

apply. As explained in Count 1, paragraphs 39-46 and 

72-75, which are incorporated by reference, there were 

no exigent circumstances, and Young County should 

have reasonably accommodated Steve’s disability. 

144. Plaintiffs therefore state a cause of action for 

Young County’s violations of the ADA and seek recov-

ery for Plaintiffs’ injuries and damages caused by 

Young County’s violations. See McHenry, 2017 WL 
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4269903, at *12-13 (denying motion to dismiss ADA 

claim in officer-shooting case); Kaur v. City of Lodi, 

263 F. Supp. 3d 947, 978-81 (E.D. Cal. 2017) (denying 

summary judgment on ADA claim for officers’ fatally 

shooting mentally ill man). 

V. DAMAGES 

145. Plaintiffs sue to recover the following dam-

ages: 

1. Noneconomic damages (survival damages) 

for Steve Winder’s injuries that he sus-

tained before he died and that were 

proximately caused by Defendants; 

2. Plaintiffs’ economic and noneconomic dam-

ages for their injuries that they have 

sustained in the past and will likely sus-

tain in the future arising out of Steve 

Winder’s wrongful death and that were 

proximately caused by Defendants; and  

3. Punitive damages for Defendants’ reckless 

and callous indifference to Plaintiffs’ con-

stitutional rights. Smith v. Wade, 461 U.S. 

30, 56 (1983).  

VI. JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY 

146. Defendants are jointly and severally liable 

under Section 1983. 

VII. ATTORNEY FEES, LITIGATION 

EXPENSES, AND COSTS 

147. Plaintiffs seek recovery of their attorney 

fees, litigation expenses, including expert fees, and 

taxable costs under 42 § 1988(b). 

VIII. JURY DEMAND 

148. Plaintiffs request a trial by jury. 
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IX. PRAYER 

149. Plaintiffs pray that, upon final trial, Plain-

tiffs recover from Defendants their actual damages, 

an award of punitive damages, and attorney fees, ex-

penses, prejudgment and postjudgment interest, and 

taxable costs. 

Respectfully submitted, 

CURNUTT & HAFER, L.L.P. 

 

By:  /s/ Stephen W. Kotara 

     Douglas R. Hafer 

     State Bar No. 00787614 

     DHafer@CurnuttHafer.com 

 

     Stephen W. Kotara 

     State Bar No. 11693200 

     SKotara@CurnuttHafer.com 

 

301 West Abram Street 

Arlington, Texas 76010 

(817) 548-1000 - Telephone 

(817) 548-1070 – Facsimile 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS 
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